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Terms of Reference for the Inquiry: 

To inquire into and report on: 

That a select committee, to be known as the Select Committee on the Aboriginal Flag, be established to inquire into and 

report on current and former copyright and licensing arrangements for the Aboriginal flag design, with particular reference to:  

a. who benefits from payments for the use of the Aboriginal Flag design and the impact on Aboriginal organisations, 

Aboriginal communities and the broader Australian community of the current copyright and licensing arrangements;  

b. options available to the Government to enable the Aboriginal Flag design to be freely used by the Australian community, 

including:  

i. negotiated outcomes with licence and/or copyright holders:  

ii. the compulsory acquisition of licences and/or copyright,  

iii. ways to protect the rights and interests of the flag's legally recognised creator Mr Harold Thomas; and  

c. any other matters relevant to the enduring and fair use of the Aboriginal Flag design by the Aboriginal and Australian 

community. 
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CAINE, Mr Michael, President, Institute of Patent and Trade Mark Attorneys of Australia 

CAMILLERI, Ms Eileen, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Copyright Council 

RIMMER, Dr Matthew, Private capacity 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

Committee met at 10:14 

CHAIR (Senator McCarthy):  I declare open this public hearing for the Senate Select Committee on the 

Aboriginal Flag. I acknowledge the Ngunawal and Ngambri peoples, the traditional custodians of the land on 

which we meet here in Canberra, as well as the traditional custodians of the lands from which senators and 

witnesses are participating remotely. I pay my respect to their elders past, present and emerging. The committee's 

proceedings today will follow the program as circulated. These are public proceedings being broadcast live via 

the web and in Parliament House. 

I remind witnesses that in giving evidence to the committee they are protected by parliamentary privilege. It is 

unlawful for anyone to threaten or disadvantage a witness on account of evidence given to a committee and such 

action may be treated by the Senate as a contempt. It is also a contempt to give false or misleading evidence to the 

committee. The committee prefers evidence to be given in public, but under the Senate's resolutions witnesses 

have the right to request to be heard in confidence, described as being 'in camera'. If you are a witness today and 

intend to request to give evidence in camera, please bring this to the attention of the secretariat as soon as 

possible. If a witness objects to answering a question, the witness should state the ground upon which the 

objection is claimed and the committee will determine whether it will insist on an answer, having regard to the 

ground which is claimed. If the committee determines to insist on an answer, a witness may request that the 

answer be given in camera. Such a request may, of course, also be made at any other time. 

With the formalities over, I welcome everyone here today. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence 

today. Information on parliamentary privilege has been provided to you. The committee received your 

submissions as submissions 14, 30, and 41 respectively. Would you like the make any amendments or corrections 

to your submissions this morning? If so, please alert the committee. Also, in your introduction you are welcome 

to make a brief opening statement. 

Dr Rimmer:  I, too, would like to pay my respect to the traditional owners of the land and Indigenous elders 

past, present and future. I would also like to acknowledge that my institution, QUT, has long been an institution 

of Indigenous learning. I am appearing in a private capacity. I have done work on Indigenous intellectual property 

for the last couple of decades. To give you a brief summary of my submission, I look at some of the history of 

Indigenous intellectual property law reform and litigation in Australia. I explore some of the conflicts that have 

taken place over the Aboriginal flag. I look at some of the disputes in the House of Representatives about what 

should be done in relation to the Aboriginal flag. I also outline a range of possible policy options to address the 

current conflict. I look forward to an array of future opportunities for law reform and social justice in relation to 

Indigenous intellectual property as well. 

Mr Caine:  Our members work in the field of intellectual property, primarily in the areas of patents, trademark 

designs and rights, but our work does intersects with the Copyright Act and copyright protection, particularly 

logos for trademarks—for example, information provided with pharmaceutical products and also where there are 

design issues and the Designs Act intersects with copyright protection. 

Ms Camilleri:  I, too, would like to acknowledge the traditional custodians of where I am, the Gadigal people, 

and pay my respect to all elders past, present and emerging. The Australian Copyright Council is a small, 

independent, not-for-profit organisation dedicated to promoting the understanding of copyright law and its 

application and to foster collaboration between content creators and content consumers. We represent the peak 

bodies for professional designers and content creators working in Australia's creative industries and Australia's 

major copyright collecting societies. We provide information, education and free legal advice to members of the 

public—in particular, creators, artists, cultural organisations, staff and members of our affiliated organisations, 

educational institutions, libraries, archives, galleries and museums. I refer to the council's submission to the 

committee and thank the committee for the invitation to speak. There is a small typographical error in 4.6 of our 

submission. The reference should be to Roman numeral 18, not 17. Our apologies. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. We have taken note of that. 

Senator DODSON:  Dr Rimmer, you gave us a very extensive submission and have given brief summaries of 

all sorts of views. Did you come to any concluded position yourself or are you simply proposing there are various 
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options open which may or may not be pursued and which will have their own consequences? Do you have a 

particular view yourself as to how this matter might be resolved? 

Dr Rimmer:  I have a professional view in relation to the matter. I think there is a real problem at the moment 

in relation to how the licensees in relation to the Aboriginal flag have been proceeding in sending various notices 

to sporting organisations, health organisations, community organisations and charities. I think that is problematic, 

particularly because there is also this history in there being a makeover when there was the connection between 

the company Birubi and Gifts Mate and WAM Clothing. We don't necessarily have the full range of evidence of 

the litigation and threats of legal proceedings that have taken place, but nonetheless it does seem to me that there 

needs to be a resolution of that kind of particular conflict. A laissez-faire approach of just letting the market try to 

determine what will happen could lead to very protracted conflicts. Because copyright law lasts for the life of the 

author plus 70 years, it could be a very longstanding conflict if the government doesn't intervene at some point. 

In my submission, I go through an array of different options, some within the frame of copyright law and some 

outside it. Already there has been a lot of discussion of the merits and problems in relation to acquisition of 

copyright by the government. I think the community ownership model being put forward in relation to the Torres 

Strait Islander flag has been quite useful and successful. 

Traditionally, when dealing with issues in relation to IP owners or IP licensees making a very aggressive 

assertion of rights, governments often rely upon mechanisms like compulsory licensing or statutory licensing to 

try to mediate those demands. That could be an option for some of the situations that have been dealt with in 

terms of some of the threats that have been made. There are also options in regulation to copyright exceptions, 

particularly around fair dealing and other copyright exceptions. It's often the case that copyright exceptions are 

shifted and altered and reformed over the years so that's certainly an option. There has been a lot of discussion 

about whether a voluntary agreement could be reached, but there are also more radical options available. Back in 

the 2000s, Prime Minister John Howard passed special reforms to stop the name of Don Bradman being subjected 

to commercial exploitation. At the time the then Australian government argued or discussed that there perhaps 

should be some special regime dealing with the protection of national icons. There's another type of alternative. 

Flags being protected under copyright law also raise classification questions in relation to intellectual property. 

I mentioned in my submission that some other jurisdictions have sometimes rejected copyright claims in relation 

to flags. The US Copyright Office, for instance, rejects applications in relation to flags. Sometimes, in relation to 

national icons, we have rules under trademark law. Dr Catherine Bond from the University of New South Wales, 

for instance, has looked at how the term 'Anzacs' has been treated and controlled. Some of my fellow colleagues 

on this panel might like to take up some of the interactions between copyright and some of the other regimes of 

intellectual property as well. In conclusion, I do think it is possible to craft a legislative response to the issue if the 

voluntary negotiations that are going on at the moment are not successfully concluded. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson? 

Senator DODSON:  Dr Rimmer has alluded that others on the panel may want to comment on some of the 

matters he's just raised. Is there anyone there who wishes to do that? 

Mr Caine:  I'm happy to make a few remarks on that. First of all I would like to recognise and acknowledge 

this is a very complex issue. I do not envy this group at all in trying to come to a solution here. It's a very complex 

and difficult issue. 

From the perspective of our members, who rely heavily on the IP legislation regime and respect for the 

provisions of the various IP acts—the Patents Act, Designs Act, Trade Marks Act, Copyright Act—these rights 

are important. There is an international context to these IP acts; there are international treaties and so forth that we 

are part of and that we have signed up to. IP protection goes beyond our borders in that copyright protection is 

offered in other jurisdictions for works created here in Australia. They're obviously valuable, and all the IP acts 

have within them provisions to protect the public, to constrain the scope of protection afforded. There are various 

limits. There was a reference earlier to compulsory licensing. Again, these are provisions that are built into our IP 

acts to protect the public and to hopefully provide solutions to various public interest issues that arise. 

This one here does seem to be in a very special category, and it's perhaps unfortunate that this is an issue that 

wasn't resolved some time ago, when the flag was recognised as an official flag. Mr Thomas is the creator of this 

work. Clearly, this work now has much value, as shown by the ability of Mr Thomas to licence his copyright of 

the work to organisations who then would expect, in having a licence, to not to have to compete in the market 

with people who haven't paid for the licence or are not licensed. That's an extra complication, that not only does 

the author, the copyright owner, have valuable rights, but now there are some licensees that also have some rights 

in connection with this copyright protection that arises under our Copyright Act. Whatever solution the 
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government comes to, we would hope it would take into account the Copyright Act and the various other acts that 

we have in Australia to provide this protection. It's obviously very important protection. It's valuable protection. 

In this particular case, there is this great community interest in the outcome. One possible outcome, and I know 

a lot of negotiation would be needed to reach this sort of outcome, would be to recognise the value that there is in 

this copyright work and purchase it for the community for a fair price. It would be unfortunate if the creator of 

this work, an Indigenous man, did not receive full value for this work that he's created. That would be an 

unfortunate outcome and a terrible story to tell, if that's how this is resolved. But, there is this great community 

interest. You've got the AFL demanding not to have to pay any money to Mr Thomas for using the flag on 

clothing, which is something that Mr Thomas has licensed to a company. So the AFL— 

CHAIR:  Mr Caine, can I just step in there? 

Mr Caine:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  You've spoken about the rights of the licensees, and there are clear issues of conflict that are being 

raised with the committee in a lot of the evidence with regard to those particular licences. Can you give us some 

understanding of situations—it doesn't have to be this one—where people who do hold licences do act in a 

manner that some may say is in contradiction to the moral value of a particular product? Have you got any advice 

in relation to that, before I go to Ms Camilleri? 

Mr Caine:  Yes, that's a difficult question: when you hold a licence how you behave as the holder of a licence 

and what lengths you go to. 

CHAIR:  That's right. 

Mr Caine:  We've got a great example of that, where it did backfire on a company here in Australia. It was in 

connection with the BRCA1, BRCA2 genetic test for breast cancer. If you recall, Genetic Technologies held the 

patent or had a licence under the patent in Australia. They were writing to hospitals that were trying to help 

people by offering the diagnostic tests to women so that they would know whether or not they were susceptible to 

breast cancer. Now, it was absolutely within Genetic Technologies rights; they owned the patent and the rights, 

and had the right to send those letters out. Whether that worked well for the company—in the end it created an 

issue; it caused concern. From memory, there were Senate committees convened to deal with that issue. In the 

end, there was a resolution in the High Court and a decision on that particular patent. That's how it ended up being 

resolved, but in the press that reflected quite badly on that company for that behaviour. That's about as far as it 

went. They were within their rights to do that, but they weren't well advised to do it. I suspect there's something 

similar happening here with these letters that have been sent and what we've heard about that. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Caine. Could I go to you, Ms Camilleri, to answer Senator Dodson's initial question, 

but also is there any further light you can shed on the question around licensees and what they can and can't do in 

your experience? 

Ms Camilleri:  It's quite difficult to make broad-ranging statements, because we haven't [inaudible] at the 

particular licences which are the subject of this inquiry. The Copyright Act doesn't give a voice to the moral 

questions that Mr Caine just raised, and it is a very particular situation, because Mr Thomas retains his ownership 

of copyright and, as far as we understand, the exclusive licensees, which he's allocated to the three companies, 

allow them to act almost in his stead, because the exclusive licences give rise to the rights to those exclusive 

[inaudible] act in his stead. Because copyright can be carved out, as it were, there are clearly—I know that 

evidence has been brought before the committee, and indeed in submissions, that Mr Thomas has still retained 

some interest in this copyright to allow the issue of bare licensees and the interaction between his interests and 

those that he has granted to the exclusive licensees, because we know, certainly anecdotally, that Mr Thomas and 

the licensees have granted free licences, if you like. There seems to be a conflation of ideas. The idea 'to be able 

to freely use the flag', I don't think, is at issue. But the idea of 'free use of the flag' is a separate issue, and I think 

that those two separate ideas seem to have been conflated in these discussions.  

Senator BRAGG:  Ms Camilleri, thank you for your evidence. Have the Commonwealth's constitutional 

powers of compulsory acquisition ever been used in relation to something like this? 

Ms Camilleri:  I'd have to take that question on notice. In our research we didn't find anything in relation to 

copyright in similar circumstances, because these circumstances are quite unique.  

Senator BRAGG:  You will take that on notice, will you?  

Ms Camilleri:  Sure. 

Senator BRAGG:  That would be useful. My sense of it would be that this would be very much a square peg 

in a round hole, when you're talking about compulsory acquisition concepts on something which is so culturally 
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significant. But I would be grateful for your advice on that. I would be surprised if it's been used before. The other 

thing I thought you did quite well in your submission was trying to break down the issues. Just in plain English, 

what would be the difference between acquisition of a licence versus acquisition of copyright?  

Ms Camilleri:  It goes to the notion of the carve-up, if you like, and the notion that copyright is a bundle of 

rights. So, say that the council does oppose the compulsory acquisition of copyright, if we say that Mr Thomas 

holds the copyright and is able to carve out bits to various licensees, as he has done, but if he retains the copyright 

and then the licences to use the flag for various reasons are acquired, that would, of course, have to be acquired 

from the relevant licensees, if you like.  

Senator BRAGG:  I think you have been very helpful to the committee because, effectively you're stepping 

through a hypothetical here which has no relevant—we suspect—historical precedent. Is that right?  

Ms Camilleri:  That's correct, and we operate from the position that because Mr Thomas is the owner then the 

threshold question has to be asked as to whether he in fact wants to change the landscape and, if he does, is he 

able to do it? That falls primarily to the laws of contract. This is leaving aside going down the compulsory-

acquisition track. So, does he want to do it? Can he do it? And if he can, then how can he do it? I understand that 

there are some negotiations going on right now. If that's where the committee is at and where the government is 

at, then the exploration of how that is done becomes paramount. And we say that it's important that Mr Thomas 

gets fair compensation and ideally ongoing remuneration from the continued use of the flag, for the licensed 

copyright, along the lines of what Mr Caine alluded to earlier. 

Senator BRAGG:  Okay. But to the extent of your hypothetical, effectively your position would be that if the 

hypothetical was to be enacted then the licences would need to be acquired, as would the copyright. 

Ms Camilleri:  We say that that's not necessary. If you can come to negotiated outcomes and you're in a 

position where the acquisition of the licences is able to be done, then Mr Thomas could in fact retain his copyright 

interest to the extent that he hasn't now. 

Senator BRAGG:  So, your position is that you would prefer some form of negotiated arrangement. How 

would you best see that coming to pass? 

Ms Camilleri:  How would we best seek a negotiated outcome? 

Senator BRAGG:  Yes. 

Ms Camilleri:  Well, the negotiated outcome, given the existing contractual landscape, is really limited by 

what the contracts say and how the licensees are prepared to give over the rights that they have. The ideal 

situation, given the fact that there is such a community interest in it and a balancing of these unique factors, is that 

Mr Thomas retains copyright ownership and that continued royalties flow to him and that he gets a say in the 

landscape in which the flag continues to be used. 

Senator THORPE:  I'm interested in how Aboriginal people can maintain control over the flag and also how 

we can make sure that Aboriginal people benefit from any commercial use of it. In your view, what arrangements 

might be— 

CHAIR:  We've just lost Senator Thorpe for a minute. We might go to Senator Davey while we wait for 

Senator Thorpe to come back on the line. 

Senator DAVEY:  That's not a problem, and I think Senator Thorpe would dearly like to hear the answer to 

her question, so I think it's best if we wait for her. I'm just going to flow on from Senator Bragg's line of 

questioning, and also I want to understand a bit about how we got here. When we're talking about copyright, 

whose responsibility is it to determine copyright prior to the use of an image or an artwork—a piece of creative 

work? 

Ms Camilleri:  Copyright is automatic in Australia, so there's no system of registration here. Once a work is 

reduced into what's called material form—once paint is on a canvass, a book is written down or recorded in some 

way—copyright exists. It's only when someone purports to use it and there's a conflict in the evidentiary 

circumstances in which the work came about that it gets called into question. 

Senator DAVEY:  In this specific instance, that was called into question in 1997, when it got taken to the 

High Court and copyright was firmly established. Is that correct? 

Ms Camilleri:  That's correct. The circumstances in which we understand Mr Thomas created it, back in 1971, 

copyright subsisted in it from—I don't know this, but if he sketched it out, copyright would subsist in that. 

Senator DAVEY:  Prior to it being announced or declared as an official flag, should copyright have been 

established, prior to that, or was the assumption that it was already a widely used, widely accepted symbol? I'm 

trying to establish who's responsible. How did we get to where we are today? It was designed and first flown in 
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1971 and organically grew to become such a widely recognised and respected symbol for our Indigenous peoples 

across Australia, such that the government of the day, quite rightly, decided to give it an official recognition—yet 

we find ourselves, 40-plus years on, where we are today. 

Ms Camilleri:  Perhaps the notion of responsibility is a difficult construct to put on it, because there's no 

suggestion that Mr Thomas has done or neglected to do anything in protecting his copyright. It's not for me to 

comment. Perhaps, at the time of proclamation, more may have been done by the Commonwealth to establish 

ownership or to clarify ownership and the rules around that. But certainly there's nothing to suggest that Mr 

Thomas did or did not do anything which he— 

Senator DAVEY:  If anything, he's done what an artist is within his rights to do since then, by establishing in 

finality the legal copyright. 

Ms Camilleri:  That's what we say, yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  I just want to clarify what you were saying to Senator Bragg, that you believe there is a 

way that we could negotiate with Mr Thomas so that he retains his copyright. The Commonwealth would have to 

enter into what would, in respect, be a licence arrangement with him such that he could get ongoing royalties 

explaining how the flag is used, going forward. Would that be similar to how the Torres Strait Islander Regional 

Council applies its copyright over that flag? 

Ms Camilleri:  I'm not entirely sure of the background. I know that the Torres Strait Islander Council does 

administer the flag and the copyright in the flag. The way the Torres Strait Islander flag came into being, I 

understand, is different to the way that this flag came into being. We can take that as an example, but it sits in 

parallel rather than the same as. 

Senator DAVEY:  A lot of the uses that people are concerned about are reproducing the flag on apparel, 

which may then be used for resale. I'm just trying to get clear in my mind how we would establish a system that 

respects the copyright and still collects the royalties for Mr Thomas but through a Commonwealth arrangement 

rather than a private licence arrangement. I'm interested to know if there are any similar arrangements with other 

symbols whereby there is one body that says: 'Yes, you can use it'. I think you did a very good job explaining the 

difference between 'to freely use the flag' and 'free use of the flag'. Going forward, I'm concerned about how we 

enable an ongoing situation where people can freely use the flag, while still recognising the copyright of Mr 

Thomas and the fact that part of copyright is the ability to claim royalties from its use. 

Ms Camilleri:  As was mentioned earlier, there are in existence—and I know that the committee has received 

submissions and evidence about the creation of either blanket licensing schemes or statutory licensing schemes 

that are in existence under the Copyright Act—regimes under the act, which the government could look to. But 

that would be subject to, of course, Mr Thomas's agreement. That's always the threshold question. 

Senator THORPE:  I am interested in how Aboriginal people can maintain control over the flag, and also how 

we can make sure Aboriginal people benefit from any commercial use of it. In the view of the panel, starting with 

Ms Camilleri, what arrangements might be made with the copyright owner to have community control over any 

reproduction? 

Ms Camilleri:  It's an excellent question, but it's a difficult one. The Copyright Act does not recognise 

community ownership. It's been the subject of inquiries and discussions across members of the community and 

government in the past. There are some protocols that are used. Currently, the Aboriginal community cannot 

control or deal in the flag other than with and by the permission of Mr Thomas and the exclusive licensees. So the 

Indigenous community is in the same boat as any other user of the Indigenous flag. 

Dr Rimmer:  Senator Thorpe, you've raised a really systematic issue about Indigenous intellectual property. 

There have been large international questions and national questions about how do we better ensure benefit-

sharing in relation to the exploitation of Indigenous intellectual property. The UN Declaration on the Rights of 

Indigenous Peoples is quite systematic in trying to reconceptualise indigenous intellectual property. So, instead of 

splitting it up into the various different Western disciplines of copyright, designs and patents, and trademarks, it 

takes a very holistic vision of what indigenous intellectual property is. It emphasises the importance of self-

determination, but it also talks about the importance of informed consent and benefit-sharing. 

It would be useful in this inquiry to not only think about the particular question of the Aboriginal flag but the 

more systematic issue of how we can better implement the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of 

Indigenous Peoples, which does lay down a number of useful principles to deal with some of these matters. At 

this stage, the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous peoples hasn't really been very well embedded into our 

intellectual property regime. There are some kind of larger systematic issues of law reform that need to be 

resolved not only to ensure proper and adequate recognition of informed consent and benefit-sharing but also a 
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more holistic recognition of Indigenous intellectual property. Terri Janke has written a number of policy papers 

over the years, calling for that sort of law reform, in part, to avoid some of the conflicts that we have seen over the 

Aboriginal flag and the copyright of Albert Namatjira. 

Senator THORPE:  Dr Rimmer, you mention in your submission, on page 42, that one valuation of the flag 

was estimated to be approximately $25 million. Do you know how this valuation was arrived at? 

Dr Rimmer:  I think that was a marketing expert making extrapolation from previous valuations of things like 

the boxing kangaroo flag. As I said in my submission, I wasn't necessarily convinced by that assessment. I think 

the copyright market expert suggested that there should be some sort of eternal or in perpetuity stream of royalties 

but copyright has a fixed term. That's one of the questions that arises in these contexts of thinking about 

intellectual property—what is fair in licensing. 

Another senator previously asked a question about Australia's constitutional powers and the role of acquisition 

of property on just terms. Australia has a very broad intellectual property power under the Constitution and, as 

interpreted by the Grain Pool case, we have the external affairs power. For flags, we also have the nationhood 

power as well. The question of acquisition of property on just terms has been considered by the High Court of 

Australia in a number of cases, including the plain-packaging dispute and also disputes over copyright royalty 

rates. So that does give us a very good idea about what is possible in our approach to those questions. But 

mechanisms like statutory licensing and compulsory licensing are often used in response to concerns about high 

licence fees or refusals to licence or profiteering of one kind or another. 

The Productivity Commission made a number of recommendations to reform some of our compulsory 

licensing regimes within patents and within our system for designs. But we have mechanisms within the copyright 

regime, particularly  to carry out valuations of what works are worth. But that's a very important question 

because, historically, there have been problems when copyright has been assigned for very little value, like the 

works of David Unaipon and Angus and Robertson, or not really for the full future value, which is what happened 

with the works of Albert Namatjira at one stage. Those questions about what a fair deal or what a fair bargain 

might be are very important questions to ask. You raise a really excellent question in thinking about not only 

financial benefits but also non-financial benefits and community benefits as well. I think there is a really 

important issue coming out of a number of the submissions about the value of the Aboriginal flag, to be used in 

relation to Indigenous health campaigns, for instance, to reduce smoking and address diabetes and things like that. 

We have to kind of think about all the various values associated with the copyright at stake. 

Senator DODSON:  I go back to contractual arrangements between Mr Thomas and the various agencies. We 

have no idea what the terms of those contracts are. What control does Mr Thomas have in seeking to vary those 

arrangements or clarifying them or changing them even?  

Dr Rimmer:  That's a very good question in terms of ensuring that there is some transparency around the 

licensing. We know bits and pieces. For instance, in my submission, I looked at the litigation between Flags 2000 

vs Smith, and the suggestion was a 20-year licence held by Flags 2000. Mr Thomas will have both economic 

rights and moral rights and he holds on to his moral rights. In relation to the economic rights, it's hard to know 

how they have been actually exploited in terms of the licences. We know that they've been divided up between a 

few different licensees, one dealing with souvenirs, one dealing with flags and another dealing with some other 

subject matter. It is important we have further information not only about the nature of the licences but also what 

the exclusive licensees are saying to users of the Aboriginal flag. We need to know whether or not their threats of 

legal action are justified. 

Senator DODSON:  We need to understand whether they are in fact implementing the understanding that Mr 

Thomas provided them within the terms of that contract. If there's now cease-and-desist notices being issued to 

Aboriginal organisations like health centres, which he says were meant to be a clear use within those Aboriginal 

community areas, there is something missing in the equation here. 

Dr Rimmer:  We need to know the exact detail of those licensing agreements and whether or not Howard 

Thomas has the flexibility to withdraw from the licensing arrangements or enter into new agreements. They seem 

to be critical issues. I guess there is also a corporations law issue. What is the relationship between Birubi and 

WAM Clothing and Gifts Mate? That's a question of corporations law in part, but there's been discussion about 

the possible connection between those parties and whether or not they're appropriate licensees as a result. It's been 

disappointing those licensees haven't been more forthcoming in the inquiry in some critical details, which could 

have assuaged concerns or clarified issues that have been raised by many of the submitters in this inquiry. 

CHAIR:  Professor Rimmer, I go to page 15 of your submission, to your comments around the history of 

Indigenous intellectual property rights. You spoke about Terri Janke, who was commissioned to produce a 
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landmark report, Our Culture, Our Future in 1999. Many of its key recommendations have gone unheeded. 

Would you be able to identify for the committee what the concern is around those recommendations and, in 

particular, the relevance to where we're trying to understand the situation. 

Dr Rimmer:  Sure. We've perennially had these debates in relation to intellectual property within parliament 

and with governments since the 1990s and the Stopping the rip-offs discussion paper, released by the Attorney-

General's Department. Terri Janke and her groundbreaking report made a key recommendation for some sort of 

sui generis approach, some sort of holistic approach to Indigenous intellectual property. If that wasn't taken up, 

her suggestion then was reforms to some of the existing regimes of Indigenous intellectual property. Instead of 

taking such a systematic approach, we've had a series of modest reforms, by both well-meaning coalition 

ministers and Labor ministers to try to address various aspects of Indigenous intellectual property. Some of those 

measures have been unsuccessful, like the collapsed authenticity mark scheme. Some have had more modest 

success, like the right of resale scheme and the access to genetic resources scheme. Some matters have not been 

followed through. Philip Ruddock imposed communal ownership of Indigenous moral rights, and that was never 

enacted. More recently we had the big inquiry into fake art, or inauthentic art, and there have been a number of 

recommendations flowing out of that. Unfortunately, the pattern has been that we've had these piecemeal little 

reforms over the years and they haven't necessarily been sufficient or adequate to deal with the enormity of some 

of the problems and issues that we have faced. 

While I recognise the efforts to try to resolve this particular conflict, I'm also conscious that, if we had some 

more general rules established, maybe we could avoid future conflicts in a range of other areas as well. That's 

partly been the pattern of intellectual property reform. The governments of the day have often had as their chief 

priority reforms flowing from trade agreements, like the Australia-United States Free Trade Agreement and the 

Trans-Pacific Partnership, and responses to new technologies, like digital and biotechnology. In terms of the 

framework, Indigenous intellectual property cuts across industrial property and copyright. It will be interesting to 

see whether IP Australia are going to follow through on their corporate plan, taking more extensive action in 

relation to Indigenous intellectual property. 

The UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples provides a framework to consider some of these 

issues. My suggestion, flowing on from some of the work of Terri Janke, would be that we need to think about 

how those principles could be embodied in Australian law. 

CHAIR:  Professor Rimmer, obviously you work in this area. ATSIC had a contractual arrangement with Mr 

Thomas back in the day, when ATSIC were around. Would that contractual arrangement in your view have been a 

contract between Harold Thomas and the Commonwealth when the demise of ATSIC came into being? 

Dr Rimmer:  Unfortunately, I don't know the details of the agreement that was entered into. I remember in the 

1990s the Commonwealth entered into an arrangement with Harold Thomas, but I'm not sure of the exact details. 

I think there is a larger question about the need for some sort of representative body to deal with some of these 

matters. Terri Janke's key argument for many years, for instance in her Mabo oration, has been that there needs to 

be some sort of Indigenous cultural authority to try to grapple institutionally with the variety of different issues 

that arise in relation to Indigenous intellectual property. In some ways the Uluru statement also highlights the 

need for an Indigenous voice in relation to matters of Indigenous intellectual property. That's an important issue to 

consider within this context. At present, we have IP Australia doing the best that they can with the issues that 

come across their portfolios. The Copyright Agency Ltd has worked hard to build up a portfolio in relation to the 

right of resale. The ACCC has sometimes intervened in matters of fake art and inauthentic art, but we need some 

sort of institutional voice that can represent Indigenous communities on matters of Indigenous intellectual 

property on a regular basis. I think that is still a bit of a gap within our system. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Professor Rimmer. Senator Thorpe has a final question. 

Senator THORPE:  Professor Rimmer, I have a follow-up question on the boxing kangaroo. In your opinion, 

what steps could be taken or factors considered to determine the value of the flag? 

Dr Rimmer:  A whole range of different factors are taken in in relation to the licensing of intellectual property. 

You could have, normally, all sorts of expert evidence, but the Copyright Tribunal has often heard disputes over, 

for instance, statutory licensing or royalty rates and may have tried to develop a range of matters and a range of 

factors to be taken into account. I think it's quite a complex equation because of the duration of copyright. 

Copyright is very long now after the copyright term extension in 2004, so that complicates things as well. 

It should also be emphasised that there are other values associated with copyright. Copyright serves a larger 

public purpose, and I think one of the strong themes out of this inquiry is that copyright is not just a set of private, 

economic and moral rights; it's also designed to promote some larger public purposes. Because the Aboriginal 
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flag serves as a national icon, it has a very special status and meaning and significance and is used by all sorts of 

different individuals and communities because of that status. That might be a complex issue to take into account 

as well. 

The question about how you deal with the protection of national icons is also a very important question. 

Sometimes, as I mentioned before, like with Don Bradman and Anzacs, we've had special restrictions on people 

using certain names or certain insignia linked to national icons of one kind or another. I remember your 

predecessor Senator Aden Ridgeway made some of those sorts of proposals in relation to Albert Namatjira when 

he was trying to coax the Howard government into trying to take action over the Namatjira copyright. He argued, 

if you took action in relation to Bradman, you needed to take action in relation to Namatjira. You need to allow 

for freedom of speech under freedom of communication under the Constitution in relation to the use of Aboriginal 

flags. I think that's an important factor as well. You also need to perhaps control derogatory or tawdry uses of the 

Aboriginal flag. So whoever manages the flag in the future needs to grapple with all those sorts of considerations 

and questions—a complex value associated with a national icon. It's an excellent question. 

Senator THORPE:  Do you have any further comment on how embedding the UN Declaration of the Rights 

of Indigenous People into Australian intellectual property law could provide a solution to the issues surrounding 

the flag? 

Dr Rimmer:  There are a number of ways in which you could draw upon that declaration. Australia's 

intellectual property laws are constantly being updated and reformed. Recently the Productivity Commission 

made a number of recommendations to modernise the patents regime and the trademark regime and the plant 

breeder's rights regime. It was very keen on having purposes. For the patent regime, now there's a set of purposes. 

One thing you could do would be to explicitly refer to the interests of Indigenous communities and Indigenous 

peoples across all the various intellectual property regimes to make sure that judges took into account those issues 

in their considerations. You could make reforms and amendments. You could recognise communal ownership, for 

instance, in relation to Indigenous intellectual property. You could provide protection in relation to a wide range 

of different subject matter. You could set up a sui generis regime. I think one of the more meta questions is the 

inter-relationship between Indigenous intellectual property, cultural heritage and native title, so you could try to 

have a greater cross-recognition between some of those regimes. 

I think there are many different things that you could do to implement the UN Declaration on the Rights of 

Indigenous Peoples. Some could be very much in terms of hard law reform, others could be in terms of guidelines 

and policies, but there are a series of very important concepts, I think, around self-determination, informed 

consent, benefit sharing, recognising a very holistic notion of Indigenous intellectual property and the 

interconnection between land and culture. All those concepts would be helpful—for instance, in the conflict that 

we've been having over the Aboriginal flag, but also in relation to many other disputes that crop up over 

Indigenous intellectual property. It would help decolonise the intellectual property regime in various different 

ways. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. No further questions. 

Senator DAVEY:  Professor Rimmer, you've spoken a few times of the idea of communal ownership or 

communal recognition of intellectual property. Would I be right in thinking that communal intellectual property 

would not be limited to a specific artwork but is something more akin to the concept of, say, dot art which is 

recognised in one area but is utilised by many Indigenous artists in that area, and that's the difference in 

community being to that area and those stations, as opposed to a specific item of art. 

Dr Rimmer:  Let me take you through the precedents. It's really unfinished business in some ways. There are 

three important cases. The Reserve Bank case initially rejected the notion of communal ownership. Then Justice 

von Doussa in the Carpets case said that you could take into account community interests in relation to remedies. 

The Bullen Bullen decision recognises communal ownership at last instance, so in those circumstances in which 

the artist failed to take action or is dead, deceased or missing then the community can take action in their own 

right. Philip Ruddock, as Attorney-General, drafted a bill recognising communal ownership in relation to moral 

rights after much prompting by Senator Aden Ridgeway, but for whatever reason that did not go ahead. 

Your question is a very good one. Australia's regimes recognise individual authorship and joint authorship and 

communal ownership in the last instance in relation to copyright and artistic work. To me there are a number of 

unanswered questions. Does it apply to other forms of work under copyright, like musical works, dramatic works, 

literary works and films? Does the notion of communal ownership recognised by Justice von Doussa also operate 

in relationship to some of the industrial forms of property, like designs, patents, trade marks and questions in 

relation to plant breeders' rights? There has sometimes been a bit of discussion about whether certain systems are 

better at recognising collective identity. Senator Alston, when he was minister, was keen on authenticity marks in 
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terms of the certification scheme, because he thought that that could recognise a communal interest. Sometimes I 

think that concept is coming up again, and is being contemplated by the Morrison government in its response to 

the fake are inquiry. There are some forms of intellectual property that recognise social interests and communal 

interests in various different ways. A key concept is that intellectual property is meant to promote larger public 

interests and purposes, and perhaps one of the issues that we've been having during this inquiry is that the various 

acts don't necessarily articulate those public interests and purposes very well and don't necessarily provide clear 

mechanisms to facilitate some of those larger public interests. 

But I think the question of communal ownership is one that is very important for Indigenous communities and 

Indigenous nations, and there has long been a push for greater recognition of communal ownership across the 

different intellectual property regimes in Australia. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Could I just put a final question to the Australian Copyright Council, Ms Camilleri, in relation to 

your submission and the compulsory acquisition of exclusive licences. Are you able to explain to the committee 

how possible that could be in this case and what some of the risks may be in doing that. 

Ms Camilleri:  You broke up a little there, Chair. It was a question in relation to how the government could 

acquire the licence compulsorily? 

CHAIR:  That's correct. 

Ms Camilleri:  That would be a constitutional question. It's beyond my scope to answer that other than to say 

that it certainly appears to be open to the government under the Constitution to do. I'd probably leave it at that. 

CHAIR:  All right. Thank you very much to each of the witnesses for your time with us this morning. 
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PARKIN, Ms Stephanie, Chair, Indigenous Art Code Ltd 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

[11:30] 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from the Indigenous Art Code. Thank you for taking the time to give 

evidence today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the 

secretariat. Would you like to make a brief opening statement? 

Ms Parkin:  Thank you for having me. I belong to the Quandamooka people of Minjerribah, also known as 

North Stradbroke Island. I would like to pay my respects to my old people and also acknowledge the traditional 

owners of the lands upon which you're all dialling in from today. 

Thank you for opportunity to provide a submission to this inquiry. I am here appearing before the committee 

today in my capacity as the chairperson of the Indigenous Art Code. The Indigenous Art Code works to assist and 

support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists to exercise and maintain agency in their decision-making 

around the commercial arrangements that they enter into. The Indigenous Art Code was formed in 2010 as a 

result of the recommendation of the 2007 Senate inquiry report, Indigenous art—securing the future of Australia's 
Indigenous visual arts and craft sector. The Indigenous Art Code is a voluntary industry code of conduct. The 

purpose of the code is to establish standards for dealings between dealers and artists, to ensure fair and ethical 

trade in artwork, to ensure transparency in the process of promotion and sale of artwork and to ensure that 

disputes arising under the code are dealt with efficiently and fairly. 

There are 208 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists who are members of the Indigenous Art Code, and 

183 dealers are current members of the Indigenous Art Code. This includes 69 art centre dealer members who 

each represent their own artist members. Any Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander artist can receive support from 

the Indigenous Art Code, whether they're a member or not. I should note that the copyright holder of the 

Aboriginal flag, Mr Harold Thomas, is not an artist member of the Indigenous Art Code. It is also noted that 

WAM Clothing, Flagworld and Gifts Mate are also not dealer members of the Indigenous Art Code. 

The Indigenous Art Code assists, works with and advocates for Indigenous visual artists seeking support from 

the organisation. We support artists who exercise and maintain agency in their decision-making processes. We 

also regularly support artists to access transfer information around their commercial arrangements where they are 

seeking clarity. 

In 2016, the Indigenous Art Code, in partnership with the Arts Law Centre of Australia and Copyright Agency, 

launched the Fake Art Harms Culture campaign. One of the outcomes of that campaign was the parliamentary 

inquiry looking into the issue of the growing presence of fake Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander art and craft 

products in the souvenir market. The committee tabled its report in December 2018, and this month the 

government responded to this report by, among other things, committing to an intention to explore the possibility 

of standalone legislation to protect Indigenous cultural and intellectual property rights. 

The Fake Art Harms Culture campaign and subsequent inquiry has resulted in considerable growth in artists 

coming to the Indigenous Art Code seeking support to pursue their legal rights in regard to unfair licensing 

arrangements. The Indigenous Art Code regularly supports artists to access legal advice through referrals to the 

Arts Law's Artists in the Black program. In these matters, while the artwork is genuine sometimes the deal itself 

may be fake or simply grossly unfair. It is crucial that all artists are supported to seek accessible independent legal 

advice on agreements before they are entered into and throughout the lifetime of any agreement. We also refer 

artists to the Copyright Agency when they receive requests from third parties who wish to use or reproduce their 

artworks. 

It is also worth noting that in 2019 the Federal Court ordered Birubi Art Pty Ltd to pay a $2.3 million fine for 

its breach of the Australian Consumer Law. This finding was a result of action taken by the ACCC against Birubi 

Art for misleading and deceptive conduct and false and misleading representation in relation to thousands of 

pieces of fake Aboriginal stolen merchandise. As has been noted by previous witness Robyn Ayres, CEO of Arts 

Law, Birubi Art went into voluntary liquidation, and the fine imposed by the court has never been paid. As noted 

in evidence provided to the committee last week and today, the former director of Birubi Art is now a director of 

both GiftsMate and WAM Clothing, which have the exclusive licences to reproduce the Aboriginal flag on 

clothing and merchandise. These issues are regarded as connected and relevant by many of the Indigenous Art 

Code stakeholders. The non-payment of the fine has caused considerable concern and distrust within the 

community. Nevertheless, it is necessary to make clear that, outside of opinions about the owners of the licensee 

organisations, Mr Thomas has chosen to enter into these agreements, which do not negate or otherwise override 

his agency in making these types of decisions. 
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It is noted that matters concerning the copyright and licensing arrangements for the Aboriginal flag chiefly 

relate to copyright law and contractual arrangements. In this regard we support the written submissions of Arts 

Law and the Copyright Agency to the committee. Specifically, the Indigenous Art Code supports Arts Law's 

assertion: 

It is fundamental to the protection of all artists' rights that Australia maintain a strong system of copyright protection. Any 

erosion of an artist's intellectual property rights, and by extension their potential income streams, will negatively affect 

Australia's arts community. 

...  … … 

As the owner of the copyright in the design of the Aboriginal Flag, Mr Harold Thomas has a legal right to decide how his 

intellectual property is used and by whom, and to receive compensation for this use. While some people, including within the 

Aboriginal community, may not agree with Mr Harold Thomas's choices, these rights must be recognised and respected. 

This is whilst also acknowledging, as the Arts Law submission does, that there is considerable concern and 

distress particularly within the Aboriginal community about the fact that the Aboriginal flag is not freely available 

for all uses, even by Aboriginal people and organisations. 

The Indigenous Art Code is of the firm position that any solution must protect and guarantee Mr Thomas's 

rights, and maintain and support him to exercise agency and decision-making around the commercial 

arrangements he enters into. Any solution proposed by government must be arrived at in collaboration and 

partnership with Mr Harold Thomas, as the copyright holder. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Parkin. We really appreciate your opening statement. Given the media and public 

debate re the flag—I think you did mention that Mr Thomas is not a member of the Indigenous Art Code; is that 

correct? 

Ms Parkin:  That's right, yes. 

CHAIR:  What would you see as a fair and reasonable approach that government should take in its discussions 

with Mr Thomas? 

Ms Parkin:  At the centre of all of this, I think a good starting point is ensuring, as I said in my opening 

statement, that Mr Harold Thomas is involved in all of these discussions. It is pleasing to know, from the evidence 

last week, that at least the NIAA has indicated that it is in current negotiations with Mr Harold Thomas. I think 

that is the real starting point particularly from the Indigenous Art Code's perspective—ensuring that Mr Harold 

Thomas is involved in those discussions. Hopefully there is some type of negotiated outcome that can be reached 

and some looking at types of structures and legal mechanisms that may be built around whatever that negotiated 

outcome might be. 

CHAIR:  It's taken a year; the NIAA gave evidence that it began those negotiations 12 months ago. In your 

view, is that still a fair assessment of how the negotiations should be going, given the pressure that's being applied 

to Aboriginal communities around the country on this issue? 

Ms Parkin:  Yes, certainly. I can certainly appreciate and recognise the increased media attention and general 

attention that has been put on the Aboriginal flag and our communities across the country. I'm not aware of how 

those negotiations have transpired so far. Whether or not there's an understanding of the regularity or the content 

of those discussions, or who's involved with them, may also speak to why those negotiations have taken this long 

thus far. But I would suggest that this in itself, having an inquiry, and continued discussion may also highlight the 

need for that resolution to be arrived at sooner rather than later. In saying that, though, I would still suggest that, 

as I think someone else has said, Mr Harold Thomas is in the driver's seat with these negotiations. 

CHAIR:  Is it possible, in your view, for the government to negotiate an outcome that allows the government 

to hold the rights to the flag? 

Ms Parkin:  I think they're all possibilities. I think one of the benefits of having evidence from such a wide 

range of academics and lawyers and others in the industry over this week so far—and I look forward to hearing 

more evidence from people from the community as well—is understanding that there are potentially wide 

varieties of options that could be used in trying to resolve the tension that we're seeing right now. So, yes, there's 

a possibility for those things to occur. I have also heard, anecdotally, that there would also be concerns around 

government holding copyright ownership. That would also need to be balanced in terms of what the community 

expectations are and what Harold Thomas's views are as well. So it is a balancing act, I think, of all these 

competing interests that need to be resolved. 

CHAIR:  In your view, ultimately, it would be Mr Thomas's rights that need to be upheld, regardless of what 

the community view might be? 

Ms Parkin:  As the copyright owner, yes. 
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CHAIR:  Finally, what would the Indigenous Art Code say should the government decide to go down the path 

of compulsory acquisition of the copyright? 

Ms Parkin:  The Indigenous Art Code would not be supportive of going down that path. That would really 

negate Mr Harold Thomas's rights and agency as an artist to make those decisions. We wouldn't support that 

approach. 

CHAIR:  What about with the licensees? If there was a good agreement with Mr Harold Thomas as copyright 

holder but the government needed to look at the people who were holding the licences and then decided to 

compulsorily acquire those, what would be the Indigenous Art Code's view on that? 

Ms Parkin:  I think the view there would be that there would have to be consideration of those existing 

licensing agreements that Mr Harold Thomas has entered into with those exclusive licensees. Mr Harold Thomas 

would need to be aware of his own rights and obligations under those exclusive arrangements, particularly on 

what he would be obligated to do in the event that those licences had to come to an end for whatever reason. I 

would come back to ensuring that Mr Harold Thomas is supported in the sense of ensuring his own legal rights, 

that he receives independent legal advice on his own rights under those agreements, and then ensuring that he has 

that information moving forward. That would be our position. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Parkin. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Ms Parkin. What differences and similarities do you see in the issues 

surrounding the Aboriginal flag as artwork versus other broader issues that Indigenous artists face? 

Ms Parkin:  I think Dr Rimmer also touched on this, in the previous evidence. I think the issue we're seeing 

now is from copyright issues but also, more broadly, the issues that came out of the fake art and craft inquiry, 

previous inquiries and discussion papers and conversations—that have been going on for many decades—of the 

lack of an adequate protection of the legal rights of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists. That's not a new 

issue. That's been going on for decades.  

While we have seen the recent government response to the fake art and craft inquiry, I suppose one of the 

positives out of that is that we have seen, at least, an intention to start looking at the standalone legislation. That 

legislation could, potentially, be quite comprehensive in the scope that it has to recognise and protect the rights 

that our people have to cultural expression. So there are ongoing issues that need to be resolved, particularly from 

a legal perspective, to recognise those rights. Aside from that, it's about ensuring that artists have adequate access 

to compliance, in relation to their commercial arrangements. Aside from the legislation, it's about ensuring that 

artists have strong and fair contractual rights as well. That is also an ongoing issue that we see, and that is 

supported by [inaudible] arts law and the way in which we support artists as well and through the copyright 

agency, which is really trying to ensure that artists are aware of their rights and that they get good, fair deals in 

relation to their artwork. 

Senator THORPE:  Regarding these copyright and fake art issues, how do these impact Indigenous artists and 

their income and their rights to cultural expression? This question is just so that the committee have an idea of the 

size of the problem. 

Ms Parkin:  Particularly from a fake art perspective, again, it's something that's been allowed to exist in 

Australia and the marketplace. That is because there are inadequate laws to stop that type of product from 

existing. When we talk about the impacts this has on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists, they are 

significant. The financial impact is the most obvious impact when fake art is allowed to exist. When we talk about 

fake art, usually the definition we would look to is that these are art and craft products that have the look and style 

of being Indigenous but they've been completely manufactured overseas and forwarded and sold in Australia. 

Manufacturers will fall foul of the law if they mislead and deceive people around the origins and characteristics of 

those products. The alternative to that is, if they simply say 'Made in China' or 'Made in Indonesia' that is okay in 

the parameters of the law. That's where a lot of this product is allowed to exist. They say that consumers really 

aren't misled, because they know the product is from Indonesia or they know the product is from China.  

That completely goes against any type of cultural protocols that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 

and artists hold, in relation to the creation and promotion of our cultural works. So there's a real clash and a real 

disconnect that we see there. Throughout the fake art inquiry, there were many Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander artists, people and organisations who spoke of the significant cultural impact that fake art poses. It 

distorts the way in which cultural practices and cultural stories are produced in art forms and otherwise. There are 

really devastating impacts there as well.  

The need for strong laws is very important, but we also continue to need strong awareness within the 

community of why these things are important. They're not just important for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
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people; they're important for Australia's national identity. This is something where we need to be able to stand up 

and say, 'This is worth protecting and this is how we're going to do it,' with strong laws to ensure that that type of 

product doesn't exist. 

Senator THORPE:  You mentioned that there was concern in the community around the government taking 

ownership of the Aboriginal flag. Can you think of an example of another option that could be put forward, such 

as community controlled organisations taking ownership over the flag in consultation and agreement with Harold 

Thomas? 

Ms Parkin:  Yes, certainly. These are the types of considerations that I think would need to be considered. As 

you say, once there is that agreement from Mr Harold Thomas then what does that look like in practical terms? 

We've also heard evidence about the example of the Torres Strait Islander flag. I think we need to understand the 

protocols and the way in which they arrived at the decision—yes, I understand it was borne out of a competition, 

but how was the regional authority able to own that copyright and what were the protocols and processes within 

which that community was able to establish it? They could say, 'These are the things that we're willing to accept 

or not accept in terms of using the Torres Strait Islander flag.' So, I think in deliberations in understanding what 

that type of model could look like, there would definitely be benefit in talking to the Torres Strait Islander mob to 

understand how that works for them or doesn't work for them. It's equally as important. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. I have no further questions. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Ms Parkin, thank you for your time and your evidence today. It's been very 

important for us to hear. Can you tell me a little bit about your organisation? How many members do you have? 

What's the breakdown between dealers and artists? 

Ms Parkin:  Yes. We have 208 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander individual artist members and 183 dealer 

members who are currently members of the Indigenous Art Code. Out of those 183 dealer members, there are 69 

art centres who are also considered dealer members, as part of our membership requirements. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  I have not visited all of those, but I have visited a small section of them in Western 

Australia, and I recognise the important work that some of those art centres do in the community. It's really quite 

powerful, I think, when you go there and see the support. They're providing not just a forum and a place for 

people to gather and produce art but also a really important service in connecting people across the community. 

It's really, really vital. I wanted to know when your organisation established. 

Ms Parkin:  We established in 2010. Our establishment came out of a recommendation of the Senate inquiry 

that occurred in 2007, which looked at the Indigenous visual arts industry. One of the recommendations out of 

that inquiry was to establish the Indigenous Art Code, so that's how that came about. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Did it come came about because it recognised a real gap in this space? Was there a 

real concern about the rights of artists and protecting their artwork? 

Ms Parkin:  That's right. I think a lot that was touched on in that inquiry looked at things around the 

arrangements that artists might have with dealers or those who wish to licence their artworks as well. It was really 

recognising that sometimes there can be quite a power imbalance between those who wish to sell and licence their 

works and the artists themselves. I should mention that that's not always the case, but, as part of this inquiry, in 

the inquiry in 2007, that was recognised as an issue that needed addressing to ensure that there was at least some 

type of standard in the market between dealers and Aboriginal artists, particularly in relation to the sales of their 

works. Really, the purpose of the code was ensuring that code members could sign up to be members and that 

they would demonstrate that commitment to ethical and transparent trading in the dealings that they had with 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  In relation to the flag and what we're discussing here about Mr Thomas's rights over 

the copyright and the moral and the intellectual property, what are the consequences—broader than just Mr 

Thomas? You spoke about compulsory acquisition and how you don't support that and that it wouldn't be the right 

way to go. So, what would be the broader consequences for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander art 

community across Australia? 

Ms Parkin:  I think in some respects Mr Harold Thomas as the artist himself is exercising his own authority 

and agency over decisions he's making in relation to the Aboriginal flag. So, in a lot of ways he is exercising 

those rights as an artist and being able to enter into those arrangements over many decades. He's been able to do 

that in many of the licence agreements he's entered into. On the consequences more broadly for the Aboriginal 

community in relation to the Aboriginal flag issue, I think one of the people who provided evidence last week 

touched briefly on how the flag has evolved. Yes, there's one individual copyright owner, and those rights must be 

respected and recognised. But the flag has evolved over many years not just as a symbol of that person's 
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individual copyright ownership but also as something that is used in so many of our community events. It is at the 

front of our marches; it is at our funerals; it is at our celebrations. 

The way Aboriginal people have also endorsed and given power to the flag as a community collective—it's 

something that we look to that unites us. There is this tension that exists, and I think this is part of the difficulty 

that has come into some type of resolution—to ensure that Mr Harold Thomas's rights are respected but also 

looking potentially at whether there is a way, with him giving consent and permission and consideration for what 

can and can't be done, to also ensure that the broader community is able to engage with and use the flag in that 

way. These are difficult questions to consider, but, particularly from my point of view, that's where the tension 

lies. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Yes—no doubt. It is important. Some have suggested that it should be compulsorily 

acquired. I don't think that's a broad view. But there are some who are suggesting that. What would be the 

ramifications for the wider Indigenous art community if it were to be compulsorily acquired? 

Ms Parkin:  I think it would probably cast doubt as to whether others would be in a similar situation. Does it 

just stop at Harold Thomas, if that was what was proposed and the path that government went down? Or, who else 

would potentially be subject to this type of compulsory acquisition? I'm not confident that it would instil 

confidence in terms of ensuring that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander intellectual property rights are effective. 

In fact, it may do the opposite. It may cause a bit of apprehension and concern that if this could happen to an artist 

then it could happen to others as well. So, I'm not sure that it would be a confidence-building exercise for the 

protection and recognition of Indigenous intellectual property rights. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Are you suggesting that it could have broader implications? We recognise the 

opportunity Aboriginal art provides for people in community to have their artistic expression and their spiritual 

and cultural expression put onto canvas or bark or whatever the medium is. Encouragement of that through the 

economic opportunity that's created out of it could be diminished if we were to go down this route and actually 

impede further development of art and that economic viability and opportunity that's created. 

Ms Parkin:  Yes, I would suggest so. The benefit to artists having the intellectual property rights is that they 

can have exclusive use of those rights. They can license those rights to other parties—or they don't have to choose 

that at all. The benefit of those exclusive rights that they have gives those artists control and agency and the 

ability to determine what they would like to do or not like to do with their artworks. So the suggestion that there 

could be some type of compulsory acquisition of an artist's intellectual property rights I think goes against those 

types of principles of ensuring that artists maintain control over their works. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Excellent. Thanks, Ms Parkin. Back to you, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator O'Sullivan. Senator Dodson? 

Senator DODSON:  This question may have been covered in one Ms Parkin's responses, and certainly in what 

Senator O'Sullivan was dealing with. It's on the tension point between the communal public ownership domain 

and an individual artist's rights, and I know you've acknowledged that that is a tension and a challenge. My 

question is: if a compulsory acquisition were to take place that acquired the rights of the entities Mr Thomas has 

entered into agreements with, would that be seen as an infringement of his rights? 

Ms Parkin:  My understanding is that, in that situation, Mr Harold Thomas would still remain the copyright 

owner of the flag and that the acquisition would occur further on down the track, in terms of those exclusive 

licensees. In terms of impinging or infringing upon his rights, I think that would also depend on what that licence 

agreement looks like that Mr Harold Thomas has between him and those exclusive licensees and what, if any, 

type of obligation he would have to adhere to if the licences were compulsorily acquired. Obviously I recognise 

that we don't know the terms of the licensing agreement, but if there were any changes to those exclusive licenses 

then there could be burdens or obligations that the copyright owner—for example, Mr Harold Thomas—would 

have to comply with. So looking at the exclusive licences to determine what obligations he would have or what 

things he would have to do would be one thing. But certainly, in terms of acquiring licences, I don't think that 

would impinge upon his right as the copyright owner because he would still be the copyright owner of the flag. 

But I'd be wanting to understand [inaudible] I'd suggest respectfully to [inaudible] are under those licensing 

agreements because I think that could also play a part in whether or not government should acquire the licences. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes. I presume that the entity that he's entered into the contract with would have to be 

compensated, and we don't know what that would quantify to. Secondly, earlier you made the point that one of the 

directors of this company that he's got this contract with appears to have been a director on a previous company 

that still owes someone $2.5 million. Have you got any suggestions as to how this gets resolved? 
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Ms Parkin:  That certainly is a point of contention as well within our communities, in terms of this $2.3 

million fine not being paid. I don't understand the complexities of the Corporations Law or liquidations law that 

have allowed that to happen, but certainly that has happened, and that penalty is unlikely to be realised, now that 

that voluntary liquidation has occurred. So maybe there could be some consideration or looking up of what those 

requirements are, or guidelines for that type of practice to occur and then continue operating in a similar space. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Senator Dodson. Ms Parkin, we really appreciated your very frank and 

straightforward evidence this morning. It is a very difficult situation and your evidence has given us some great 

insight. Thank you for your time. 

Ms Parkin:  Thank you, Senator, and all the best to the committee. 
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CARTER, Mr Will, Private capacity 

CONNOLLY, Mr Michael, Private capacity 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

[12:05] 

CHAIR:  Welcome, and thank you both for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about 

parliamentary privilege has been provided to both of you and is available from the secretariat. May I add, Mr 

Connolly, that the committee has received your submission as submission No. 43. If you do wish to make any 

amendments or corrections, please let us know. Mr Connolly, the committee has deliberated over your 

submission, and we'd just like to inform you that, as there are adverse comments in your submission, we have 

respectfully alerted witnesses who've appeared before us previously to be aware of that. I just wanted to inform 

you that the committee has made that decision. I invite you both to make an opening statement, if you wish. Mr 

Carter, I'll go to you first. 

Mr Carter:  Thank you, Senator. Firstly, I'd like to acknowledge elders past, present and future of the 

Wurundjeri people—I join you from their country today—of the Wiradjuri and Ngunawal peoples, to whom I 

belong, and of all First Nations peoples. I join you today as an Aboriginal community member with experience as 

an artist, employee and small-business owner. I have been involved in a range of work, including government and 

community. I have established a community controlled [inaudible] in Melbourne's western suburbs and formed 

[inaudible] teams at local competition and at statewide Koori carnivals. I've used the flag on our team uniforms 

[inaudible] other Aboriginal art [inaudible]. I've loaned the Wurundjeri art gallery and cultural centre and sold 

Aboriginal flag T-shirts there, when Gooses was the licence holder. 

I, like many Aboriginal people, have pride in the Aboriginal flag. I can recall some of my earliest memories of 

the flag in protest marches down the mainstream of Narrandera, where I'm from. The flag, to me, is a symbol of 

unity, resilience, peace, hope, love and identity. That is what adds value to the flag. Without Aboriginal people 

over the course of decades embracing and taking ownership of the flag, it would have no monetary value today. I 

believe the Aboriginal flag should be free for all people to use and not have unnecessary barriers placed upon it 

for access. There is enough red tape in our lives without adding more. 

I have worked as an Aboriginal education support worker in Victoria. Through that work, myself and my 

colleagues across Victoria advocated tirelessly within schools to have the Aboriginal flag raised in public schools. 

The flag is an instant connection for many Aboriginal people and is important in reducing barriers to education, 

amongst other things. Senator Thorpe worked tirelessly in her role with the Municipal Association of Victoria to 

have all local governments across Victoria flying the Aboriginal flag, which she achieved. 

In closing, the work of Aboriginal people to build the Aboriginal flag's profile over decades cannot be 

overstated. The flag should be free for all of us to use. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Carter. Over to you, Mr Connolly. 

Mr Connolly:  I am a 63-year-old descendent of the Kullilla Muruwari people. I operate an Aboriginal art and 

craft business in south-west Queensland, and have done so for 24 years. I'm also a strong advocate for the fake 

Aboriginal art campaign and the Free the Flag campaign with Laura Thompson and Nova Peris. With Nova and 

Laura, we have received cease and desist letters from WAM Clothing and our passion is to free the flag for all 

peoples—all our people—who have fought under the flag, been buried under the flag and have marched under the 

flag.  

My presentation will be about the freedom of the flag and the support of our communities Australia-wide. I 

acknowledge all the communities and all their elders past and present. I acknowledge that the land I live on is part 

of the south-east Queensland traditional custodians of the Brisbane area, and I acknowledge my elders of the 

Kullilla Muruwari people of south-west Queensland and north-west New South Wales. I respect your committee 

members and every other person in the submissions, to make this a better way for the Aboriginal people to walk 

freely with their flag and the passion that we have had for 49 years.  

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you both for coming and giving your time to the committee. Thank you, Mr 

Connolly, for your very comprehensive submission. It covered a lot of ground and made your position very clear. 

We have received some really good submissions from across the spectrum, and I'm finding this committee quite 

fascinating. Firstly to you, Mr Connolly, in your submission you stated that once you'd received a cease and desist 

letter you tried to contact Mr Thomas by social media. Did you try any other avenues to contact Mr Thomas 

directly, either via mail, telephone, through his legal representatives or any other mechanism?  
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Mr Connolly:  When this all started about five years ago, I was purchasing products through Birubi Arts—the 

stickers, caps and mugs and stuff with the Aboriginal flag. We had a disagreement with Mr Wooster. He refused 

to sell me more products. So I contacted Mr Harold Thomas by phone, and Mr Harold Thomas virtually said that 

he has respect for all the work of the family, and that I'm nothing but a whinger and Mr Wooster does haven't to 

supply me with any of his products because they belong to him. So I'm nothing but a whinger and Mr Wooster 

does not have to supply me anything. 'So just get on with your life'. That was the last communication we had.  

Senator DAVEY:  That answers my question—you have had contact with him in the past! 

Mr Connolly:  Yes. 

Senator DAVEY:  But the dispute is ongoing, in so far as use and contract arrangements, and that is 

understandable. Mr Carter, have you had any contact with Mr Thomas directly? You said you're an artist, an 

employee and a small-business owner. Have you received a cease and desist letter for use of the flag, or have you 

just chosen not to use it?  

Mr Carter:  I've chosen not to use it, and I won't be using it until it's resolved. That's for anything. 

Senator DAVEY:  Mr Connolly, this is probably better for you. In your opinion, have the parameters for use 

and reproduction of the flag changed over time?  

Mr Connolly:  It has. We've purchased through Flagworld, who are very nice people to work with. We 

purchased through Gooses T-Shirts first, when Neil Booth had it, and then he went on to Vaguce T-Shirts. When 

WAM Clothing became—this is when things started to happen. I want to tell you a little story that I have in my 

statement, but I'll tell you because we're all in this position.  

Neil Booth rang me and said that he'd had a relationship with Harold Thomas for over 20 years to print shirts, 

hoodies, singlets and so forth. He said that WAM Clothing were taking over the clothing. Neil died in February 

2019. He was not even cold in the ground when Semele Moore contacted his wife, Belinda, four or five times a 

day, ranting, raving, wanting all her clients, all her financials, wanting all her products to be returned to WAM 

Clothing for a very minimal fee, and anybody else that was dealing with them. She broke down and cried and 

rang me and I spoke to her for over an hour. She cried for an hour. This is what happened.  

From that day on, I thought, if they intend to bully people—poor old Neil wasn't even in the ground for three 

days and Semele Moore was tormenting them. I couldn't get over that. They had an agreement with Harold 

Thomas for over 20 years to do tee-shirts and hoodies and singlets, which we purchased and sold through our 

business here in Redcliffe. It just broke my heart. 

Senator DAVEY:  The committee has been made aware of a few previous licences. We understand there was 

a previous licence with Birubi Art, and we've heard a lot of the history with them. We've heard that there was a 

previous licence agreement with ATSIC, and now you're telling us, and in your submission, you assert there was a 

previous licence agreement with Gooses T-shirts and Vaguce. But we haven't yet been able to determine, or 

haven't seen evidence of, those previous licences. What we're looking at today is the licences that exist today. It's 

our understanding that these are WAM Clothing, Gifts Mate and Flagworld, all under licence from Mr Harold 

Thomas.  

You assert in your submission that you believe the copyright and licences—I'm putting words in your mouth, 

so please correct me if I'm wrong; I'm trying to paraphrase your submission—shouldn't exist and the flag should 

be free, to be used by everyone. Does that mean it would be allowed to be reproduced anywhere in the world, for 

any purpose and for any profit? 

Mr Connolly:  I think that, as the Aboriginal communities, they should be allowed to produce the product or 

the Aboriginal flag, whichever they prefer, to do whatever they want with the commitment and the pride that we 

have had for years. I think, with the way that WAM Clothing have seen it, it is virtually, 'No, you have to come to 

us.' If we remove them as a licensee, and Harold Thomas says it's free—he stated in 1971, with Gary Foley, on 

the day he marched through Adelaide Square on 21 July, 'Show this flag as the flag of the Aboriginal people and 

we will walk with it.' Then Gary Foley took it to the eastern suburbs. It became, under the Aboriginal people, the 

recognised flag of the Aboriginal people.  

Harold Thomas gave it to the Aboriginal people to do so, to walk with it freely. The proclamation of the flag in 

1995 has given recognition of that. We believe that the recognition of the proclamation is supporting the situation 

with Harold Thomas, but they don't have any licence agreements. Therefore, it is free for the people to do what 

they've got to do as long as they do it with a restriction, as with the Australian flag and the Torres Strait Islander 

flag, and walk together as the three flags, as we have, to recognise the people of Australia. I think this is where it's 

got to go back to. It's free, to the people, to produce it within Australia for support of all businesses in Australia—

as we do. 
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Senator DAVEY:  I think therein is one of the questions that we're also trying to resolve. For example, the 

Australian flag is free and reproduced in Indonesia or China and it's put on merchandise and it's sold here but 

made and manufactured in China or whatever. But, from what you've just said, you do want to see limitations to 

its reproduction and use. I think what we are trying to do is work out how we can do that while also respecting the 

artist's copyright as well. We've had many witnesses before us making it quite clear that it's very important to 

respect the artist's copyright as we go forward, and I'd be interested, Mr Carter, in your comments on copyright 

and the retention of the rights of the original artist. 

Mr Carter:  I think it's really important to ensure that Mr Thomas holds and remains holding copyright over 

his artwork. I think that should be front of mind, whatever path we go down. In terms of the sale of the Aboriginal 

flag, if we were to take that right and opportunity from Mr Thomas and give it to somebody else to be able to 

profit off—when I say 'profit off', I mean somebody else to have ownership over it and profit off—I think that's a 

contradiction to Mr Thomas's rights as the copyright holder. I think, whatever path we go down, it needs to be 

done in partnership with Mr Thomas. 

CHAIR:  I will now go to Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, gentlemen, for your contribution at this time and for your submissions. I'm 

not going to direct a question to either one of you; both of you can respond if you wish. What do you think about 

the possibility of the government getting an outcome through its negotiated process with the people you've had 

experiences with in other fields? Is there much possibility of a successful outcome here? 

Mr Connolly:  As we're looking for an outcome to be together with Harold Thomas, Harold Thomas is the No. 

1 person, according to law of Australia. The proclamation is the supporting document to that, and also the 

recognition under the three flags of Australia. If we were to have it and accept it, we don't need ownership by 

another person; we just need it as characterised as being the trustee under the copyright, the trustee of the flag, 

because the flag is not a piece of art that was registered; it was a flag. So a flag is a flag; the copyright is the flag. 

So, if we look at peoples getting whatever done in support of the situation we have, if government says yes, I 

think the government will have the organised time to sit with Harold to say, 'For the people, and no licensees, 

walk with the people for the people to produce the flag in all aspects to support the community, their elders, their 

sporting, their schools, their old age homes and everything, so we can walk with it.' So no longer would a person 

be receiving royalties and no person would be selling it for royalties or licence; it would be for the Aboriginal 

people to go up the road to their printer and print some stickers off and put that up and showcase what they're 

doing. Then there's no licence like WAM have—20 per cent plus 10 per GST, bang. We would then be supporting 

our people within our areas and our small businesses. 

Senator DODSON:  Mr Carter, did you want to say something? 

Mr Carter:  No, I will just echo Mr Connolly's comments. I think he's pretty much on the money. 

Senator DODSON:  This is probably a different question. What if there's no amicable outcome from these 

negotiations between the government and Mr Thomas? What's the future of the flag if the current arrangements 

continue between Mr Thomas and his agents? If there's no outcome here, what's the future of the flag if it remains 

under these current arrangements? 

Mr Connolly:  I think, Senator, as we've seen over the last 12 or 18 months, the flag is slowly dying. I've had 

people that have come to my business, my shop, my emails. They are sick and tired of non-Indigenous people 

running our country, running our businesses and running our flag. They have said to me over the last 18 months, 

'We don't even want the flag.' Two young gentleman rang me with their grandmother. They said they had the flag 

tattooed on their backs. They were going to go and get it removed off their blood because of what WAM Clothing 

is doing to the Aboriginal people and with Harold Thomas not having a say. Every time someone goes to contact 

Harold Thomas, it goes to WAM Clothing. They virtually tell you: 'This is how it is. This is what we want.' So 

there's nothing in the sporting codes, nothing in the schools. We've got nothing presented for our people through 

the schools. They talk about the culture. They present the culture. I have heaps of schools that come through my 

business. But the overall lookout is they're sick and tired of it. 

They're sick and tired of having to answer to a non-Indigenous company that has bullied people with cease and 

desist letters and told us what to do, when to do it and how to do it. When Gary Foley and Harold Thomas in 1971 

said, 'This is the flag of our people,' they have an implied licence for 49 years to bring it to the status of where it is 

today. We would like it if Harold Thomas walked the red carpet with us and said: 'I return the flag to your people. 

I'm the greatest recognition of this flag.' A lady asked me the other day, 'If you were given that symbol, how 

would you deal with it?' I said, 'Imagine the pride of 2.3 million Aboriginal people, plus another 5 million or 10 

million Australian people, walking down with that symbol for free, to carry, to march—to be free to do it all 
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around Australia, in the sporting fields, in international sports.' What they're doing is showcasing the greatest 

symbol of the oldest culture nation in this country and in the word. This is what it means to me. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Did Mr Carter want to respond? That was a very passionate response by Mr Connolly. Mr Carter, do 

you want to complete Senator Dodson's question? 

Mr Carter:  Again, I echo Mr Connolly's comments. I do see a shift in people's willingness to use the flag and 

to have the same level of pride in the flag that was there only a couple of years ago. It doesn't mean it can't be 

restored. It doesn't mean it won't be restored. The thing about the Aboriginal flag is that it's a national flag, even if 

we sort of drill it down into different language nations or different groups. There are more and more groups that 

are starting to have flags for their nation or create flags for their nation, and I think as we move into the future 

we'll see more and more individual flags like that. But, again, there's no unifying national flag. 

An example of the importance of the flag as a national symbol for me personally is that when I travelled 

overseas I made sure I had my hoodie and my T-shirts, and I wore the flag every day, everywhere. It was an 

opportunity to be seen and recognised and to connect with other Aboriginal people who were abroad at the time. 

That's on a personal level. And Mr Connolly spoke about sport and the bigger-picture stuff. There's certainly a 

place there for the flag. So, it would be sad to not find a resolution. But I think the ball is in Mr Thomas's court as 

to his willingness to find a resolution. In terms of the licence holders, I do not support WAM Clothing receiving 

any sort of compensation. I'll say that. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Carter. And just to complete that line of questioning from Senator Dodson: Mr 

Connolly, your comment that in your view the flag is dying is I think an incredibly sad thing to hear, yet a very 

powerful comment by you. Can I just ask: is there talk about going down another path here if there is no 

resolution around the current flag? 

Mr Connolly:  Yes, there is, and there has been talk of a new design of flag. But we've been finding over the 

past 18 months that the passion of our youth and what the people have fought for, for the flag, is so ingrained in 

passion in our people that I can't see—it would be like a broken spirit; it would be like torment. It would be like 

the breaking down of our warriors who have fought for our rights. This flag is a unification of the 250 nations that 

walk this land, from Tasmania to the Territory to Western Australia to eastern Australia. We as Aboriginal people 

were gifted the flag by Gary Foley and Harold Thomas. In the newspaper in the Northern Territory one time there 

was even a story about Harold Thomas saying, 'This is the flag of the Aboriginal people; no non-Indigenous 

company can have this flag copied for commercial reasons.' But now he's turned his tail. He has turned away from 

the love of the people for the design of the Aboriginal flag. 

The Stolen Generation that Mr Thomas has come from has virtually given the symbol to a non-Indigenous 

company, non-Indigenous people, who have been for the removal of our children, the removal of our lands. So, 

this is a very important issue, and we have heard for months that this is not what they want. They still want the 

flag. But if it keeps going as it is, down and down—it's only worth monetary funds. It's about the dollar now; it's 

not about the pride, the sweat, the tears, the pain. It's about monetary value. 

I'll tell you about an incident that happened to me at my shop a few months ago. I was gifted an Aboriginal flag 

with Harold Thomas's signature on it. Within two days I had two police officers at my shop demanding that I 

return the 'stolen' property. I asked, 'What would that be, Sergeant?' He said, 'The Aboriginal flag.' He said, 'I have 

a paper here, signed by Benjamin Wooster and Semele Moore, saying that you are in possession of a stolen flag.' I 

said, 'Really?'—an Aboriginal man who was gifted a flag of the Aboriginal people, and now two police officers 

are here, and there's two outside, and there is paperwork there. I produced the flag, and within 24 hours, through 

the police stations, it was returned to Benjamin Wooster, and I was known as the person in possession of stolen 

property, of the Aboriginal flag. How did I feel? When the police come to you to take the flag—it's not on. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Connolly. Thank you very much for speaking to us straight from the heart. 

Mr Connolly:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Senator Thorpe. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Chair. Thank you, Mr Connolly and Mr Carter. Mr Connolly, I feel your pain. 

I know that this brings up a lot of emotion and it's very personal for a lot of Aboriginal people right across the 

country. You've mentioned some examples of people being reluctant to use the flag because they're scared of 

getting a cease-and-desist letter. In your experience, what are some of the other negative implications of the 

current licensing situation on Aboriginal people and Aboriginal community controlled organisations who wish to 

use the flag but can't—for example, Aboriginal owned family and childcare services, community clubs, major 

event organisers and others? 
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Mr Carter:  As an artist, I know that this country has a long history of Aboriginal art and culture being 

exploited. One of WAM's directors is a perpetrator of that exploitation. They are now a licence holder, and they 

are still profiting from and damaging Aboriginal people, art and culture. For me personally, that cuts quite deep. 

Mr Connolly:  I'd like to speak on the Bundaberg health service in Queensland. Every year, they get shirts 

done with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags on them. They give them to the people who come in, to 

recognise that they have been tested. WAM clothing contacted them—this is the first licence—when they had 

free, not-for-profit organisations. By the time they had sent them a letter regarding the cost of the shirts they had 

done, the new licence was not implemented. So they virtually charged them $2,200. That was the cost of the shirts 

through Struddys sportswear in Brisbane. They had to pay that, or they would give them a reduced fee if they 

signed an agreement with WAM—a quiet agreement. They said, 'No, we won't sign an agreement with you. We're 

Aboriginal groups, so we'll pay the fee.' So they paid the fee. 

And then we have the Quandamooka island groups at Straddie. They have child care. They have an aged-care 

home set up. Their logo has the Aboriginal flag within it. They were sent a cease-and-desist letter by WAM. The 

lady contacted me. They said they will not use the Aboriginal flag. They had to get new racks for their cars and 

school uniforms and remove the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags. They could only represent themselves 

as local Quandamooka island groups to support their childcare centres and to support their aged care. So they've 

virtually broken down for the monetary funds. I'll read you a piece— 

CHAIR:  Sorry, I'm just going to have to interrupt for a minute. We seem to have some feedback issues. 

Senators and Mr Carter, could you make sure you are on mute while Mr Connolly is speaking. There seems to be 

some feedback coming through. Apologies, Mr Connolly; back to you. 

Mr Connolly:  In case you haven't read it, it says, 'the amended licence first removed the clause exempting not-

for-profit organisations from paying a licence fee'—to add all print, digital and physical media, which now 

included, amongst other things, particularly physical, such as, and just listen to this, any' Horizontal or partially 

horizontal surfaces, including: naturally occurring or artificial ground …solid dirt, grass, stone, snow, ice' et 

cetera, and any 'Vertical or partially vertical surfaces, including: cliff faces … hills, mountains …', and, 'The 

whole or part of … the atmosphere of Earth, including the sky or the air', and, 'Any building, sporting ground, 

stadium, arena or other structure'—this is what their agreement is. 

So there's no chance of any of the Aboriginal community having health, supported child care—on the water, on 

the sky. They have virtually taken the right—the human rights—of Aboriginal people in the whole of this 

country, for this flag to not even be recognised on any part of our country of our great nation of the oldest culture 

in the world. It's a very, very sad time that we are having. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Mr Connolly. Can you provide a comment then on what model of licensing or 

fair use would be the most appropriate for grassroots Aboriginal communities and not-for-profit Aboriginal 

organisations, particularly Aboriginal community-controlled organisations, that would balance the rights of Mr 

Thomas as an artist and also the needs of Aboriginal people and Aboriginal communities? 

Mr Carter:  It's a tough one. I think there needs to be an effort in acquiring the entire licence of the artwork, 

and what that looks like, I'm not sure. But mob shouldn't have to pay for it, regardless. I think it should be free for 

all to use. And how we get to that end point—again, I'm not entirely sure. My thinking is it comes back to Mr 

Thomas and his appetite to see that as the end goal. If that can happen, then we should be able to use it for free. 

Mr Connolly:  Adding to that, is we sit up to the table, and we promise—as a mediation table—or what our 

organisations, our communities and our children can look at—and say: how do you want to present? Harold 

Thomas, you have given this flag in '71 to stand up for the NAIDOC march in Adelaide. They have now removed 

the Aboriginal flag from the NAIDOC system this year. So we need to sit at the table, as part of mediation, and 

say 'You gave it to the people; now you give it to the non-Indigenous people who—they now have taken it from 

us.' We only want it to show it in pride, in harmony and in beauty, to wear it as a blanket or as a protective rug. 

Once you have that flag around you, you are safe because everybody that sees you with that flag in community 

know who you are and they will walk with you. So we have to look at it as a protective blanket for our children, 

our services, our organisations—to walk free together as one unity of Aboriginal people in this country forever. 

Senator THORPE:  I have a follow-up question. Hypothetically, would you see value in a community-

controlled organisation managing a licensing system for anyone who wanted to use the flag in a business or 

commercial way? 

Mr Connolly:  I suggest that no. It's nothing to do with commercial, as we've spoken about. As soon as you 

mention the word 'commercial'—monetary—we're back to where we started, where we are now. It has to walk 

with us, free. Like the Torres Strait have: they have a group that oversee it. The Australian government has one 
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for the Australian flag. Why don't we have somebody there to say, 'Yes, we are going to walk with this. Our little 

community group want 500 shirts. Can you put us in touch with a printer so that we can get this done?' Then they 

get the money through these systems. They pay for it, and it is just a flat rate of you getting that flag printed on 

your material, on your cards or whatever. So all you pay for is the cost of getting the printing done, but 

acknowledged by the person who should be in charge, by government, or by a group that would say, 'Yes, you can 

go ahead and do that and let us know. We will see the presentation of it.' If it's done like the Australian flag is 

done, in a professional way—the colours are right—it'll be loved and cherished the same way. We can then walk 

down the street with either flag. 

Senator THORPE:  Would you agree to something similar to the Torres Strait Islander example? 

Mr Connolly:  I think so. That's depending on the majority of the people. I am only one person that's stood up 

to fight to free the flag. But we have to come together. Would all Aboriginal people love to have, the same as the 

Torres Strait people, a recognised group under government, under the proper [inaudible] of the flags, to 

understand, 'Yes, that's what we would like'? Then they say, 'At this time we are going to get this made and we 

are going to support it.' It is acknowledged as the copyright of the trust of Harold Thomas. The sign is always up. 

This is the flag which was acknowledged in 1971 by Harold Thomas. Gary Foley commissioned Harold Thomas 

to have that design ready for the march. If we put Gary Foley and Harold Thomas' design that they gathered 

together in 1971 on the paper to say that this is acknowledging the situation of the person who actually put the 

design together for us to use, so they still know—as Bernard Namok is for the Torres Strait. It is acknowledged all 

over that he was the designer of the Torres Strait flag. If you put that up and said, 'You are acknowledged,' I 

would love that. 'You are the acknowledged artist of this beautiful flag.' What more could you want when you 

have 2.3 million beautiful, lovely Aboriginal people, and probably 10 million white, non-Aboriginal people that 

would love the flag? And they do. They come to the shop. They want to buy the flag. They want a [inaudible]. If 

we had a group that would accept it as that, and acknowledge Gary Foley and Harold Thomas, who first came 

together to put this flag up for the Aboriginal people of Australia to walk in harmony, love and togetherness as the 

nation of the people that we are, that would be the way I see it. 

Mr Carter:  Can I make a comment, Senator Thorpe? 

Senator THORPE:  Sure. 

Mr Carter:  I think if we're comparing it with the Torres Strait scenario we have to be careful, because there 

are far more complexities working across Aboriginal Australia in trying to have some type of governing body and 

what that might look like. I think removal of any sort of financial implications is a must. Again, it gets back to 

being free for all to use. I still agree with uncle that the acknowledgement of Mr Thomas as the creator of the flag 

should never not exist and should be at the forefront of it. We need to ensure that there are protocols in place 

around its use, similar to what there are with the Australian national flag and that sort of thing. It's a fairly 

complex scenario. The end goal, I think, for me personally anyway, is to see all Aboriginal people being able to 

use it freely. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you for your evidence today. Effectively, my take away from what you have told 

the committee is that you are looking for a form of equivalence with the Australian flag, that the Aboriginal flag 

be able for anyone to use. Is that right? 

Mr Connolly:  Is that pointed towards me? 

Senator BRAGG:  Yes. 

Mr Connolly:  Agreed. There are no funds of the flag that any community or organisation can go up to a 

printer and print what they want for their community without having to go through a licence agreement, pay extra 

pay a fee, dada dada, and it adds up. It cost the Bundaberg system money they never had—$2,600 extra, and they 

never had that money. They had to go and get that money somewhere else to pay WAM for that clothing. If we 

had it and just took it up the road to a shirt company to get it done to support your people in health that come and 

get their check up free, people would come there more. We'd get more people involved in school, get more people 

involved in the health system. This is what I see the passion for. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you very much, and thank you for your evidence. 

CHAIR:  I'd like to cover off a couple of things, if I could, in the short time that we have. Mr Carter, could I 

get your thoughts on the possibility of the government compulsorily acquiring the Aboriginal flag. 

Mr Carter:  If I really sit here and think about that, I kind of lean more towards that being almost another form 

of oppression. It dismisses our sovereignty, noting that we don't have constitutional recognition. So if there's a 

constitutional avenue for the flag to be acquired compulsorily, then those are my thoughts around that. I think 

whatever is the way forward, it needs to be in consultation with Mr Thomas. Let's be fair, I wouldn't like to be 
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flying the flag and taking pride in it, knowing that it's been taken from its creator without them wanting it. That's 

sort of where I'm at with that. 

CHAIR:  If it was agreed by Mr Thomas to go down that path, would that make it different? 

Mr Carter:  Yes, a hundred per cent. That's the only avenue forward, I think. 

CHAIR:  What about if the government were to look at acquisition of the licences and leave the copyright with 

Mr Thomas? What's your view on that? 

Mr Carter:  I have no issue with that, depending on what leaving the copyright with Mr Thomas looks like. 

What does that entail? 

CHAIR:  It's all about the details, isn't it? 

Mr Carter:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  It's about knowing the details, which we don't. It's really helpful to know your views. Mr Connolly, 

would you like to comment on that as well? 

Mr Connolly:  I've done a bit of research and I don't think it's about a house in the middle of a road-building. 

It's about the recognised flag of the Aboriginal people. If the government were to step out to pay, again, to Mr 

Thomas [inaudible] paid by ATSIC and the last 49 years of flags, it is still that monetary thing. As brother has 

said, we retain the copyright, we remove the licences and then we bring it back to the people as it was in '71. We 

bring it back to the people. The government can support it and say, yes, this is what they've done through the 

proclamation: this is the Aboriginal flag on Australia. Recognised is what it is. The point is, do we pay more for 

it? How much is the piece valued at? How much has the monetary value come to and what is that piece worth? Or 

does it come down to the piece of rag sewn together, at what value? Has it gone past the situation? Does the 

government have to come again, which they won't like doing? So we have to look at it from the perspective of 

Aboriginal people. Come to the table, Mr Thomas. The government can say, 'We'll organise that meeting.' We 

will prepare a document—how it would be set up, under the laws, under the Constitution of Australia, as the free 

flag, to be supported by government and recognised for the Aboriginal people of Australia, and it would become 

free to use, with the acknowledgement of the copyright, and the copyright would then be brought down as: 'Yes, 

you are the licensed copyright [inaudible] and the protector of that image, and it is free for the people of Australia, 

for the Aboriginal people, as well.' So WAM would have to come to the mediation table on the law—and I don't 

think there is a law in this country regarding this. I think we need to sit down and say: 'How could we make a law, 

so that we all come out happy, that the original agreement was: for the people, by the people—which we 

proved—and, under implied licence, you'll have it as the flag of the Aboriginal people?' 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Connelly. This is perhaps more of a personal question for you, given the experience 

that you've had with the flag over so many decades. As chair, I wrestle with this a little bit. We're coming to the 

50th anniversary of the flag next year, and one of the questions I ponder in the midst of all this inquiry is: are we 

looking at the journey and the story of the flag? And is this the beginning, where we are at, or are we looking at 

the flag in its past? I think, when you spoke earlier, you said that the flag is dying, if it continues to be treated in 

this manner as in the last 12 months. What would you advise the committee in going forward on the story of this 

flag? 

Mr Connolly:  Well, as we've seen over the last week, they're talking about a $2 coin. Now we have a situation 

where governments, or other people, are starting to prepare for 50 years, when our people have not been 

acknowledged as the implied licence people. We have promoted it. We have carried it. And now, all of a sudden, 

there are things jumping out for 50 years in July next year. Even NAIDOC don't have a recognition; NAIDOC 

have removed it. So we don't have a national Islander and Aboriginal day of celebration of our elders past that 

have fought for the rights of our people under NAIDOC to carry a flag, to recognise the unification of our people, 

for 50 years, or 49 years as it is now. It's come down to: 'How much is it worth?' This piece of rag—like this 

here—will just die to the ground without input from the committee, from the government and from the Aboriginal 

people of Australia. We have all the clans, we have everybody in every state and territory; they contact me: 

'Brother, what do we do now? How do we do this?' They talk about the fake art campaign and how Birubi Art 

owes $2.3 million. Why can't it get that $2.3 million and give it to Harold Thomas and say, 'Well, thank you, 

Brother; there it is; take it away; you've got your money; you've got everything; now the flag becomes free'? It's 

50 years next year. And they're all starting to promote it. Who's promoting the dollar coins? Who's promoting 

what they're going to do? Who has come to the Aboriginal people for what they wanted for their implied licence 

for the last 49 years? No-one's been to the people. It's always the same. No-one comes to the people. They go to 

the people in law above our lore. 
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We have L-O-R-E—the lore and respect of each nation's people. We don't know L-A-W. We know L-O-R-E—

the love of our people, our flag. We love the people. And we also love every lore of every nation we cross. When 

I cross my lands to go to Western Queensland to the Kullilli, I acknowledge my mobs as I'm going through. When 

I go to my mother's land in Goodooga, I always acknowledge the mob that I travel through. 

But no-one talks holistically, as in: 'If you are going to have this flag, that is us, that has been for 49 years, next 

year'—and no-one has consulted with us—'what do you want as Aboriginal people? How do you want to 

showcase it? Do you want to showcase it here? Do you want to showcase it here? Or do you want it to be just a 

piece of cloth that's worth money to non-Indigenous companies and licensees?' And Harold Thomas has not stood 

up and said: 'No. This is my flag that we give to you and give to our people to walk in harmony with, and to the 

world, to the sporting, to the passion—everything.' And this is what has to be brought down: to the people, by the 

people, for the people. 

CHAIR:  A final question to you both: at this point in time in the story and the journey of the flag, is it about 

fighting for the flag or just letting the flag go? Mr Carter? 

Mr Carter:  Tough question! Look, I think, for most of us, there's a history there with the flag, and it means so 

much to us and it's very personal. For those reasons, you want to fight for it. I think there needs to be a real effort 

to come to some sort of agreement with Mr Thomas, and if that can't be resolved then it may be time that we do 

look at other options, whatever they may be—I'm not sure. But, again, like Unc there said, we need to start talking 

to the mob a bit more about what that looks like and having a broader conversation about that, because I can't 

answer that for everyone. We all have a vested interest in it. We all feel a part of it. So we all should be included 

in that journey. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Carter. Mr Connolly, a final say from you? 

Mr Connolly:  On that part right there, that Brother says: we have the generation from 1972 to now. I was 

born in 1957. I grew up in the bush. I didn't know much about the flag until I left in the eighties and went to North 

Queensland from the bush, and then as I moved to Brisbane and made my business. And then I realised what it 

was: people in the marches, in NAIDOC, had been jailed for it; people would come to me to get a flag to lay on a 

coffin to bury one of the elders. This is it. So [inaudible] the government and unless Thomas comes to the table 

with the Aboriginal people and the government to make a decision and free it for the people. 

I know a lot of people through my connections on Facebook and my social media and my business. They are 

sick and tired of being told what to do—not only by governments and native title and all this, but now by a non-

Indigenous company that owes a $2.3 million fine for fake art out of Indonesia and has no respect. 

And I'll give you what he said to me, to finish this off. He said: 'Michael, you have no law. By the time I've 

finished with you, you'll be not trading and you'll be back living under your gum tree, because you have no law. I 

am the man that has a law. Your people don't have a law.' So this is what I've copped for years. I could've gone 

and done something wrong—which I went to the police, and I had to prove that I was an amicable business 

person, as an Aboriginal man; otherwise, there was a chance of me getting locked up. So I've had to do all this, to 

provide this, for the love of this. So if that's not passion—that love and sharing and caring! Give it to our people 

to walk in harmony. I don't know what they're going to do, because it's just going to roll away—[inaudible] gone. 

And, as Brother says, the flag of the nation I've got up here. It's in my DNA. It's my Kullilli, it's my Muruwari 

peoples. Do we have 250 flags, or do we have this flag that's already implied, by our people, to walk in strength 

and passion for what we have? I thank you. 

CHAIR:  Mr Connolly and Mr Carter, on behalf of the Senate committee, I sincerely thank you both for your 

heartfelt evidence to us today. You've certainly again advised us on many different options to look at. But also the 

passion with which you bring your evidence is really important for our committee. So our sincere thanks. Feel 

free to provide any further evidence if there is anything else you'd like to add at a later date. Thank you, both. 

Mr Connolly:  I'll just make a final comment. A piece I wrote says: 'If you are true fella, Harold, do the right 

thing and return the Aboriginal flag to the Aboriginal people so we can restore and rebuild its cultural worth and 

let it fly again with pride. This is our just terms.' I thank you. [Indigenous language not transcribed] 

Mr Carter:  Deadly. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Connolly, and thank you, Mr Carter. The committee will suspend. 

Proceedings suspended from 13:04 to 14:55 
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BIGELOW, Ms Pamela, Chief Executive Officer, Indigenous Art Centre Alliance 

STOKES, Mr Dennis, Chief Executive Officer, Tandanya National Aboriginal Cultural Institute 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from the Indigenous Art Centre Alliance (Queensland and Torres Strait) 

and Tandanya National Aboriginal Cultural Institute. I thank you all for taking the time to give evidence today. 

Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. If you'd 

like to make a brief opening statement before we go to questions, I encourage you to do so. Do you have any 

comments to make on the capacity in which you appear? 

Ms Bigelow:  The Indigenous Art Centre Alliance is the peak body for arts centres in Queensland. I'm making 

apologies for the chair of our board, Philip Rist. It was rather short notice and he was unable to make it. I've 

spoken to our board and I will have to take some things on notice if I can't give the answers that you require up-

front. I would much prefer that he or one of our other Indigenous board members were here, but unfortunately the 

time frame was too short [inaudible], so I'll do my best. 

CHAIR:  I will confirm that it is just you representing the Indigenous Art Centre Alliance. 

Ms Bigelow:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Would you like to make an opening statement to the committee? 

Ms Bigelow:  Okay. To my mind, this is a fairly straightforward situation. Someone has created a piece of art 

that has been adopted as the Aboriginal flag of Australia. In fact, I believe it's the almost 50 year anniversary of 

the use of that image on that flag. It's well-established amongst Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians as the 

Aboriginal flag for this country. He owns the copyright to that image. That's Harold Thomas. He has done what is 

within his rights to do, which is to license the use of that to another party. That, unfortunately, precludes others 

from using that, which is the situation at the moment. It would be appropriate for the Australian government to 

approach him to change the situation, so it can be licensed to the Australian government perhaps, or to have some 

sort of legal usage worked out between the parties so particularly Indigenous people can use that flag more freely 

than they currently are able to do. Our members—and there are in excess of 500 artists—all feel that it is 

inappropriate that it has been licensed. However, he is within his legal rights to do that—all artists are, in fact, to 

obtain some income. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Bigelow. Mr Stokes, can you hear me okay? We're still having connection issues. 

We'll go to questions while we're trying to sort out some technical issues. Senator Dodson, do you have questions 

for Ms Bigelow? 

Senator DODSON:  Does the institute have a view on the negotiations that are currently occurring between 

Mr Thomas and the federal government regarding the Aboriginal flag? 

Ms Bigelow:  I'm glad that they're having some negotiations. That's great. The flag needs to be able to be used 

like the Torres Strait flag and the mainstream Australian flag are. It needs to be in the same category of use. A 

flag isn't something that should be owned by one business. I'm not sure what those negotiations consist of though. 

I'm not across that information. I'm hoping that they are attempting to change that situation and use some legal 

advice on that. 

Senator DODSON:  Can you just clarify something for me? I may not have heard you amid all the toing and 

froing that was going on. Did you say that you have 500 members at Tandanya? 

Ms Bigelow:  No. We're in Queensland.  

Senator DODSON:  Sorry. 

Ms Bigelow:  We're the peak body for Indigenous art centres right across Queensland. There are in excess of 

500 artists. It can change from time to time, so that figure is approximate. Indigenous artists are in our 

membership. 

Senator DODSON:  Also you might clear this up for me, because again I might not have heard it properly. 

Did you say that that membership in toto think that it is fundamentally inappropriate that the licensing 

arrangements entered into by Mr Thomas and WAM were undertaken? 

Ms Bigelow:  I haven't spoken to every single one of those artists, but our board, which represents those artists 

in our organisation and runs our organisation, are of that opinion. They are distressed that that flag is not freely 

available to be used in appropriate settings. 

Senator DODSON:  Have any of the members of your association had any dealings with WAM? 
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Ms Bigelow:  I'm on the board of the Indigenous Art Code, and I'm very aware of their background. Most of 

our artists are remote traditional people and wouldn't really be all over that particular company. They are very 

much aware of the fake art campaign, because we've been proactive in it. Many of them have been spokespeople 

for that campaign at national art fairs and on radio and television. But they don't know the finer details of the 

court case that occurred. It's a shame that Harold Thomas dealt with those particular people, but I think it is 

almost irrelevant. Anyone owning that copyright is not going to open it up freely to the Australian people 

[inaudible] as it would be if it were the Torres Strait flag or the mainstream Australian flag. 

Senator DODSON:  Have any of your members been issued a cease and desist notice for using the Aboriginal 

flag? 

Ms Bigelow:  Not that I know of, no. I can ask that question and get back to you, but I'm pretty sure they have 

not. It's mostly around putting it on clothing, I believe. Many of our members have already done that; it exists on 

their uniforms and things. But nobody that I know of has received a notice. They would come to me if they 

received a notice, so I'm assuming that they haven't. 

Senator DODSON:  So none of the medical services, childcare agencies or legal services have made any 

complaints to your organisation about cease and desist notices? 

Ms Bigelow:  No. They would more likely complain to someone in government about that. We deal with arts 

centres, not health—I'm aware of all the health and other services in the community, but we don't deal in that 

directly. We're not a support organisation for them, to put it that way—not that we wouldn't listen, if they did 

come to us. They'd be fairly aware of our existence. We're a peak body for art centres, which are distinctly 

different from those other orgs. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes, I understand that. Do you have a view about what would be the best outcome in the 

current dilemmas that we're faced with and that the government is trying to pursue? 

Ms Bigelow:  I'm not privy and nor is anyone I know of—I've spoken with Arts Law and my colleagues on the 

Indigenous Art Code board—to the agreement between Harold Thomas and WAM Clothing. We don't know what 

the content of that agreement is, how much money changed hands and all of those things. If the government is 

talking with Harold Thomas, that is the best outcome—that they negotiate a way to, I imagine, have to buy out 

that licence. WAM have been pretty clever; having the copyright licence in that format on that flag can make 

them money. I guess that's the implication—I'm only guessing; I haven't spoken to them, and they wouldn't tell 

me if I did. That would be business-in-confidence information. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Have we got Mr Stokes on the teleconference? 

Mr Stokes:  I am on the teleconference. 

CHAIR:  It's wonderful to have you on, and to have a witness from South Australia. Would you like to make 

an opening statement to the committee? 

Mr Stokes:  Yes. We represent a number of organisations and a lot of artists around the country. We are a 

national institute. We've been looking at this very closely. We have been talking to a lot of members and artists 

throughout South Australia, particularly in Adelaide. There is quite a bit of distress for the community. 

Considering the connection that the Aboriginal flag has to Adelaide, people are pretty much distressed and would 

like to know what can be done about it. Although we're not particularly pushing for the use of the flag as 

Tandanya, we are looking at trying to get some outcomes for the community. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Stokes. We are certainly looking forward to any advice or guidance from yourself on 

this. 

Senator THORPE:  My first question is for Ms Bigelow. Thank you for coming today. In your opinion, how 

could the current arrangements with the Aboriginal flag be modified to strike the right balance between Mr 

Thomas's rights as an artist and cultural access to the flag for varied uses? 

Ms Bigelow:  It is up to what WAM Clothing are prepared to do. I haven't got all the information, but I heard 

about the incident with the AFL on the news and them having to cover the flag on the field. They're not very 

flexible, by the sound of it, and they're wanting to ask for payment for the use of it, I understand. It seems an odd 

arrangement—that a company like that should have the right to control the use of the flag. As I said at the 

beginning, within the normal constraints of using the flag—so it isn't used in any derogatory or negative way—it 

should be there for free use by Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians, where it's appropriate, and used well. 

I don't know how that can be done, because I don't know those particular people; none of us do. I am across the 

court case that this company has been through, and I know it is not the most scrupulous. However, that's that. Mr 
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Thomas has a right as an artist to take an offer from someone who wants to buy the rights to use his artwork. We 

can't take that away, legally. 

Senator THORPE:  I'm also interested in your thoughts about Aboriginal community control and, 

hypothetically, your thoughts around Mr Thomas having copyright and giving the licence to an Aboriginal 

community controlled organisation to then make decisions around the use of the flag going forward. 

Ms Bigelow:  If that would work, it would be difficult to say who that organisation would be in terms of 

representing everybody. But that would certainly be better than the current situation, absolutely. All of our art 

centres are Aboriginal owned and controlled by Torres Strait Islander and Aboriginal laws, including our own. So 

that would be far more preferable, yes. 

Senator THORPE:  Finally, you mentioned earlier that you don't want the flag to be misused in any way. I'm 

interested in your thoughts on how we might prevent the flag from being misused or exploited generally in the 

event that the licensees were acquired. 

Ms Bigelow:  It would be a legal issue, much the same as with any flag around the world, if someone is caught 

misusing it—if, for example, people video somebody burning the flag. There are legal ramifications around 

[inaudible] rights. Flags have certain parameters that have to be followed in their use. They're not to be hung the 

wrong way or changed or altered. The use of the current Torres Strait Islander flag and the mainstream Australian 

flag is pretty broad, as long as you use it in good faith. So, yes, it would be just like any law: people have to be 

caught doing it, and then they're punished for that. 

Senator THORPE:  Mr Stokes, I want to pick on up your point about community distress around the 

uncertainty of the flag. I'm also hearing it from my position and my community. What are some of the issues that 

you are hearing from community about the flag? 

Mr Stokes:  There's great concern about how they can use it. You can look at a lot of people, including our 

institute. We think twice about using the flag on any marketing material, so we've stopped that. We don't use it at 

all, and most organisations that we're talking to are doing the same thing because they're not sure whether they're 

going to get a cease and desist letter or whether or not they're able to deal with getting that. We're talking about 

small organisations who don't have the capacity to fight that if need be, so they've just stopped using it at all. 

We're not the only one. There are retail stores around South Australia and Adelaide, including our store, that have 

no Aboriginal flag products in them at all at the moment, because we're unsure if we can use it. The only ones we 

do have in there are Torres Strait Islander flags. People are not sure what their legal rights are as well. 

Senator THORPE:  I have one last question, and it's the same question I asked earlier. It's a hypothetical. I'm 

just getting a feel for how people feel about an Aboriginal community controlled organisation having the licence 

to the flag and Mr Thomas having copyright. What are your thoughts around that arrangement? Do you have any 

other ideas of another arrangement that might work? 

Mr Stokes:  No. I think that would be an arrangement, if he were in agreement with an organisation that could 

look after the copyright of the flag. At Tandanya, we believe that, at one stage, that copyright was going to come 

under Tandanya, from talks that happened through this institute a few years ago. It was a discussion we were 

going to have with him when I came on board about two years ago, but it just didn't eventuate. We were thinking 

about talking to him about managing that for him a while ago, and that was something we were hoping to do, but 

it never eventuated, as I said. 

CHAIR:  Mr Stokes, I might continue with that line of questioning from Senator Thorpe. Is it too late for 

Tandanya to have that discussion with Mr Thomas, in terms of you holding copyright there? 

Mr Stokes:  No. It was something that I was going to follow up. We were going to follow it up very soon 

because of this situation. This happened before I came on, and it never happened within Tandanya. So, with my 

coming on, and coming from the Northern Territory as well, I thought it would be a good idea to get in contact 

with him and see if he was still interested in that arrangement. Obviously, everything happened with WAM. We 

would be very happy to go and have a chat with him again and see if he would be interested in some sort of 

arrangement with us, the reason being that he has a long history with Tandanya, and we were hoping that we 

could use that and maybe see what we could do. 

CHAIR:  Do you want to explain to the committee what that history is? It is obviously an artistic history. 

Mr Stokes:  He had worked here for a period of time. When he was studying here and going to university, he 

dealt with a lot of people who then created Tandanya—obviously, that was years later, in 1989—so he still had 

connections with people within South Australia. Our understanding is that he was going to offer copyright to 

Tandanya to look after the flag. This was many years ago. Obviously there has been a lot of changeover within 

Tandanya in the last two to three years. There has been a lot happening. I'm trying to get the information from this 
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organisation as to what sorts of conversations were had, if at all. But that is my belief, that he had some sort of 

thought about bringing the copyright to Tandanya, and as the national institute. 

CHAIR:  In your opening statement you said that Tandanya represents a lot of artists throughout Adelaide and 

South Australia, and there's considerable distress in relation to this current situation. How are people trying to 

deal with that stress, given the history of the flag in Adelaide in particular? 

Mr Stokes:  I'm not quite sure. We haven't had any major conversations. We are looking at doing a community 

meeting, because there is such a connection here—this is where the flag was raised. People are distressed by it, 

and they would like to try to get some sort of outcome, like I said. We're hoping to get a community meeting 

happening and to see exactly how they feel, because it means so much to South Australia and Adelaide. 

CHAIR:  Mr Stokes, one last question from me, before I go to Senator Davey. Have you or any of your 

members received a cease and desist notice? 

Mr Stokes:  No, not that I know of. Nobody has come to us directly. We have heard that it has happened, but 

to what organisations we don't know. Tandanya have not received anything. When it all started happening we just 

stopped selling product. 

CHAIR:  Okay. I'll go to Senator Davey and come back to my questions for Ms Bigelow a bit later. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you both for appearing before us today. Mr Stokes, I'm interested to hear that in the 

past Tandanya—I appreciate this is before your time—were expecting conversations with Mr Thomas about 

reaching an agreement. Have you had any contact with Mr Thomas since you've taken on your role? 

Mr Stokes:  No. I have tried to. We have not been able to have any contact with him, as such. 

Senator DAVEY:  That's fine. You mentioned that uncertainty has grown around the use of the flag and that 

your organisation has ceased to use the flag in your marketing materials. Can you explain what has changed? We 

know that [inaudible] was established in 1997, and we know there have been various licencing agreements since 

then. Why do you think the uncertainty has grown about the use, and that there is more confusion now about how 

people can use the flag than there may have been, say, five years ago? 

Mr Stokes:  People would just use the flag. Whether that was abusing it or whatever, people just used it 

without any permissions. That's what most of the community thought they could do, it being the Aboriginal flag. 

Now that there are legal ramifications for using it, the only time there has been, they're not quite sure what to do 

with it any more. I think that's the only way to answer that. I can tell you a lot of organisations within Adelaide 

have ceased to use it altogether, and would rather use somebody's art work, with permission from them, than just 

putting the flag on there. One of our main sources of income is our retail, and for the majority of international 

tourists—80 per cent of the people coming in here are international tourists—that's what they're looking for. It's 

actually getting quite embarrassing that that's something we can't even sell them. 

Senator DAVEY:  When you were selling products with the flag on them, though, was that for profit, or— 

Mr Stokes:  No, we don't make profit; it goes back into the community. 

Senator DAVEY:  So, reinvestment to your community. 

Mr Stokes:  Yes. We're a not-for-profit organisation. We're also a charity. Any moneys we make through 

anything we do goes back into the organisations and programs. Even at Survival Day this year we had no 

Aboriginal flag on any shirts that were being sold. 

Senator DAVEY:  And that is a question that I've sort of been investigating today, too. With the Aboriginal 

shirts that you may produce, sell and distribute, for the artwork that goes on those shirts, do you pay the artist 

who's developed that artwork for that design and then reproduce it on the shirts? 

Mr Stokes:  No. That actually is a competition that we run each year. If we approach an artist for the artwork, 

we may pay them. But that's very rare. Usually we have competitions. 

Senator DAVEY:  It would be a condition of entry in the competition that when you're lodging the artwork for 

the competition you are actually granting free usage to Tandanya. So, there is the approval process in the 

conditions of entry of the competition to ensure that the artist is happy with your reproducing and merchandising 

their artwork. 

Mr Stokes:  Yes. Correct.  

Senator DAVEY:  That sort of brings me to you, Ms Bigelow. The artist you represent—you have said in your 

evidence already that it is more within Mr Thomas's rights to license his artwork and that copyright is very 

important to your artists. Would your organisation be concerned about the precedent it would set if the 
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Commonwealth went down the path of something like compulsory acquisition rather than a negotiated 

agreement? 

Ms Bigelow:  Yes, we would be concerned. Every artist has a right to be remunerated for their work, and we 

certainly hold that view very strongly. For example, we produce a set of gift cards every year that we sell, 

predominantly as a promotion for our members, for our art centres. They're an image from each art centre, and we 

pay those artists for the use of the images and we have a licence to use it for X amount of years. It's all correctly 

laid out. There's no taking advantage of them at all. The artists get that remuneration. Of course, they still get to 

sell the painting, but we give them a fair fee in order to use that—even though all that money goes back to 

programs for them; that's not the point. It's just modelling the proper behaviour and the proper, legal way of 

handling the use of art. 

So, I would imagine that he should be recompensed for that, particularly in this day and age. In the past—and 

we have examples of it on Australian banknotes and things—art has been used illegally, because Aboriginal 

people didn't know their rights. We're in the business of teaching them their rights. That's what we do in our 

organisation, and we make sure people know what they're entitled to—across the board. It doesn't matter if you're 

Indigenous or not; it's about all artists' rights to own the copyright of their own work and to receive money for it if 

it's being used by other people. 

Senator DAVEY:  And, as I said earlier, there have been licence agreements over time with Mr Thomas. We 

don't know what the detail of any of those agreements has been, or some of the terms of them. In your experience, 

what are just terms for an Indigenous artist, going forward? Are there long-term agreements, or agreements as far-

reaching as the agreement appears to be with WAM, which covers all sorts of paraphernalia, right down to 

printing the artwork on the grass of a football field, as well as badges, keyrings and clothing? 

Ms Bigelow:  In our business, in my industry, we call that an unconscionable licensing agreement. He has 

signed it, obviously, without seeking some legal advice. I don't know the contents of that; that's just me hearing 

what you're telling me. If that is the case, then that would be unconscionable. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'm also basing it on media reports and what we've heard. 

Ms Bigelow:  Same, same. No-one seems to know how much money he was given for that. Again, that's his 

right to keep that private. It's a tricky situation. We assume money has changed hands, or why would he give them 

the licence? What could be the reason for it? Sorry, what were you asking me, exactly? I've just got off the track a 

bit. 

Senator DAVEY:  Just how broad-reaching was it? 

Ms Bigelow:  There is an agency that's supported, I think, by the federal government—the Copyright Agency. 

They would sort all of that out properly so that all parties, including Aboriginal people, would be getting a fair go 

to use that flag. Organisations like Mr Stokes's could use it, ours could use it freely, much the same as the other 

flags. Why should it be different, really? I think that's what needs to happen. Whether it's through an organisation 

or Indigenous organisation, it needs to be a pretty solid one. If it disappeared, then who is looking after the flag? 

You know what I mean? It needs to be something that is pretty strong and going to be there forever, more or less, 

so that the details of the copyright agreement or the licensing agreement can be continued in perpetuity. 

Senator DAVEY:  One final question. There have been different models thrown about and ideas put forward. 

One idea is separating out the commercial use and reproduction of the flag as opposed to the community use for 

organisations such as Tandanya. But then whether the incomes from the commercial use would cover royalty fees 

back to Mr Thomas or whether the copyright sort of gets absorbed in one final negotiated outcome such that, 

going forward, commercial use royalties would then— 

Ms Bigelow:  They're gone, they've sold them. 

Senator DAVEY:  Then the whole question comes of how it's used by organisations to benefit Indigenous 

peoples. 

Ms Bigelow:  That happened with Namatjira. Recently the family have got it back or stopped that; the time 

period expired. I think it was a 30-year agreement or whatever that they had on his work. That family got $8,000 

once, and that was it. It's not a great idea because that money is worth less over time. It will really be up to Mr 

Thomas. He really needs a lawyer. As I said, the Copyright Agency are excellent at representing. They have an 

Indigenous person that would represent the interests of him as an Indigenous artist. More than other Indigenous 

people, really—there will need to be two parties involved here to negotiate how that works. 

It is not uncommon to have royalties. For example, we have art centres that put an artist's artwork on a T-shirt. 

They'll pay a one-off fee, and it might be $500. It won't be $100,000; it will be specifically a small amount. But 
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then for every T-shirt sold, they get five per cent or a certain percentage is set in that licensing agreement. And 

there's a period of time—that is, for X amount of years or X amount of reproductions. Again, these are legal 

agreements that are drawn up to suit the purpose. 

I'm not a lawyer. I have worked a lot and I have knowledge of the copyright law because I have to advise 

people in my job. I would certainly be involving Copyrighting Agency in this. It's directly their business and they 

know the ins and outs and the legal jargon that needs to go with it. But that is a normal thing that would happen in 

our situation when putting an artist's work on anything. Whether it be a beer cooler, a T-shirt, a hat or anything, 

certainly they would get a fee and perhaps a royalty. 

CHAIR:  Senator Dodson, Mr Stokes wasn't online when you were asking questions. Would you like to put 

further questions to Mr Stokes? 

Senator DODSON:  No. Thanks, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Mr Stokes and Ms Bigelow, I'm going to ask some questions consistent with questions I have put to 

earlier witnesses. In terms of the government's options here, what are your thoughts on the government 

compulsorily acquiring Harold Thomas's copyright? 

Mr Stokes:  It's a difficult question. I'm not quite sure. It is his copyright, it is his art. A lot of thought would 

have to go into that. 

CHAIR:  What if Mr Thomas was able keep his copyright but the government was able to move towards 

acquiring the rights of the licensees? Would that be more favourable? 

Mr Stokes:  I think it is a more favourable option, yes. 

Ms Bigelow:  Yes. As I said, this was done back before we learnt to respect Indigenous rights a little bit better; 

we still don't have them in the Constitution. There are some difficult things around that, but I don't think they 

should compulsorily require it. They're going to have to undo the licence he's already signed. They're really going 

to need some good legal advice. That's what they need to do—and I'm not a lawyer. I think he should be paid 

fairly and Aboriginal people should be free to use the flag in appropriate ways. 

CHAIR:  I might just ask a couple of questions in relation to the Torres Strait Islander flag. Mr Stokes, feel 

free to respond to these questions. Hopefully, we are going to have the Torres Strait Regional Authority provide 

evidence to us. We would like to understand about the TSI flag. In terms of the alliance, are you aware of any 

issues with granting permission with the Torres Strait Islander flag? 

Ms Bigelow:  No. They've done it well. They did it with intention. They commissioned an artist to design it. I 

think they had a competition. They paid that artist well and they now have complete control. That's appropriate. 

They are a long-lasting Indigenous local council that will always be there and maintain and manage the use of that 

flag. That is a good example of how it could and should work. 

Mr Stokes:  I believe the Torres Strait Islander flag was done as a competition. It was stipulated that that 

would be the case and that the design would belong to the regional authority. I'm not sure whether there are issues 

with the family at the moment; I think there may be, from conversations I've had. So that would probably need to 

be looked at a bit further. 

CHAIR:  We will probably put those questions to them when they come. In terms of the arrangement with the 

Torres Strait Islander flag, do you think that could be a possible outcome for the ongoing use of the Aboriginal 

flag—or is it too late? 

Mr Stokes:  No. I think they are two different situations—the way the Torres Strait Islander flag was designed 

and the way the Aboriginal flag was designed. 

CHAIR:  Ms Bigelow, do you want to make a final comment on that? 

Ms Bigelow:  The Torres Strait Island is a very discrete region and it has one regional authority whereas 

Aboriginal people are right across Australia and come under lots of different authorities and legal entities. The 

idea of Tandanya having it sounds great, but who am I to say? Again, as long as it is going to last and we maintain 

it, we won't get the problem arising again. 

CHAIR:  You have both provided information to our committee which has been very helpful. Ms Bigelow, 

you said you might go back to your board and seek some further advice on the questions on notice. You have until 

30 September to provide further evidence to the committee in writing in relation to those conversations that you'll 

have with your team. Mr Stokes, if you and your board wish to provide further evidence to us in regard to being a 

holder or a caretaker of the flag in terms of copyright, you have until 30 September to provide any further 

information to us should you so wish. Thank you both very much for appearing before us today. 
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Ms Bigelow:  That's okay. It was great to talk to you all. 

Mr Stokes:  Thank you. 

Proceedings suspended from 15:41 to 15:53 
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RITCHIE, Mr Craig, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Institute of Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander 

Studies 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  I welcome the representative from the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Studies. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been 

provided to you and is available from the secretariat. I remind senators and witnesses that the Senate has resolved 

that an officer of a department of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory shall not be asked to give opinions 

on matters of policy and shall be given reasonable opportunity to refer questions asked of the officer to superior 

officers or to a minister. This resolution prohibits only questions asking for opinions on matters of policy and 

does not preclude questions asking for explanations of policies or factual questions about when and how policies 

were adopted. If you do have a brief opening statement, you are welcome to provide that to the committee. 

Mr Ritchie:  I am the chief executive officer of the Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Studies here in Canberra. I am a Dhunghutti man. My country is the Mid North Coast of New South Wales and so 

I acknowledge that I am speaking to you from the land of the Ngunuwal people and I pay my respects to them and 

recognise their ongoing custodianship of this place. 

The Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies is Australia's national institute 

dedicated to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, knowledge, societies and cultures. We were 

established in 1964, then as the Australian Institute of Aboriginal Studies, and we have a long history of research 

and collection management in relation to the stories, cultures and heritage of Australia's Indigenous people. We 

are the custodian of a national collection of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander heritage materials and one of 

Australia's publicly funded research agencies. Our collection is the largest of its kind in the world and currently 

numbers in excess of one million items. I'm very glad to be here this afternoon to participate in this hearing. 

Thank you. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you for your attendance today. You're a government agency. What are your feelings 

and your perspective about this: if the government were to absorb the licence arrangements or the copyright of the 

flag, how would it best be managed going forward? We've heard that there are different uses—commercial and 

community uses. It is obvious that there is a need for some sort of management going forward, but what would 

the best model be? 

Mr Ritchie:  Thank you for that question. The institute doesn't have a particular view in relation to that matter, 

except to say that we have a long history of supporting the rights of Indigenous people in the context of 

intellectual and cultural property rights. We do recognise that in the case of the flag those rights vest in Mr 

Thomas and, therefore, our view is that the question of what happens to that, should there be an agreement 

achieved between Mr Thomas and the government, is a matter for him. We aren't involved in those negotiations 

and the institute doesn't feel that we have a right—'right' is the wrong word. We don't have an expectation of 

involvement in those negotiations. I do understand that there are some sensitive negotiations being undertaken 

between the government and Mr Thomas on this issue but, beyond that, we don't have a view. 

Senator DAVEY:  Perhaps my question was a bit ill framed. Notwithstanding the copyright of Mr Thomas—

and there is an ongoing negotiation—if we reach an agreement with Mr Thomas, we've had people compare the 

model going forward to the model for the Torres Strait Islander flag, where the regional council has the operation 

and management of the flag reproduction going forward in that scenario. We know that the NIAA are involved in 

the negotiations, but they are a government agency, and there are feelings that there needs to be more community 

involvement. Have you thought about a model? In the past, ATSIC had a licence agreement with Mr Thomas, but 

they no longer exist. Would it be better to have a government agency, or is there some way of developing more of 

a community consultation model? 

Mr Ritchie:  I don't have a view about what's better, other than what is achieved through the process of liaising 

with Mr Thomas. As to what might represent the equivalent of ATSIC in the current environment, that's a matter 

for people who are smarter than me on the various natures of government entities. You're right: AIATSIS is a 

government entity. We're a corporate Commonwealth entity, in the current parlance—what might once have been 

referred to as an independent statutory authority—with a governing council, whom I work to. I think the 

important thing to keep in mind in all of this is that, amongst Aboriginal people, the flag does have a resonance 

and a currency that is important as, in a sense, a unifying representation of us nationally, even though we exist as 

members of independent and separate nations. As I mentioned, mine is Dhanggati. In the course of the 

negotiations, that status of the flag—the important symbolic value of the flag—beyond its status as an artwork 

and a design that needs to be managed within a particular framework, is front and centre, as I understand it. As I 
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say, I'm not privy to the details of the negotiation or the processes, so I think that our view would be that those 

very important cultural elements of the flag, if I can use those terms, need to be kept in mind when it comes to 

resolving the question of use and management going forward. But, again, that's something that needs to be kept in 

mind by the protagonists of the negotiations. 

Senator DAVEY:  In talking about AIATSIS itself, you work to gather and document the diverse history and 

cultures of Aboriginal nations across Australia. You also produce books, journals, CDs and DVDs. What sort of 

agreements or licence arrangements do you have when you're reproducing cultural works? 

Mr Ritchie:  It would depend on the nature of the product. Our publishing work is carried out under a 

reasonably standard publishing agreement between Aboriginal Studies Press, as the publisher, and the author, and 

those rights reflect what would happen in usual publishing practice. In terms of the management of items held in 

our collection from particular First Nations groups around the country, those items are managed in conformity 

with the conditions under which those items were deposited in our collection, and we have a longstanding practice 

of managing that material in ways that places the decision-making of Indigenous communities at the forefront of 

what we do. The material is not ours, and, in fact, we adopt a very strong stewardship approach. Even in 

circumstances where an item may be legally the possession of the institute, we regard ourselves merely as 

custodians of that item, and the decisions about how that item is used—whether it's put on public display; whether 

it's used in publications, whether they be institute publications, or in other ways; whether it's included in 

exhibitions—are very much decisions that are made by the people and the communities whence it came. So, for 

us, the principle of Indigenous people's rights to make decisions about their own cultural material is front and 

centre. 

Senator DAVEY:  Are you confident of the provenance of all the materials you reproduce or publish? 

Mr Ritchie:  In terms of what we reproduce or publish, we're reasonably confident. As you'd appreciate, with a 

collection of over a million items acquired across a span of 56 years we rely on the documentation that we have. 

But I will say that in some instances the documentation is less rigorous than one might want it to be. So, we have 

our team in collections management that are engaged in ongoing work of, in many respects, going back over 

material to make sure we have in place all the agreements or all the recognition of the rights of people, 

particularly communities of origin. It is a sad fact of our history, particularly the history of academic endeavour in 

Indigenous communities, that materials were sometimes acquired through means that we would regard now as 

unethical or inappropriate. So, we work hard to make sure we redress that whenever we come across it and to 

make sure we are ascribing the appropriate control and decision-making rights to the appropriate people. 

Senator DAVEY:  Is any of the material you use or publish under ongoing royalty or licence arrangements? 

Mr Ritchie:  The books we publish are sold, and there are royalty agreements built in to the publishing 

agreements as is the usual practice in the publishing industry. I can't think of them off the top of my head, but I'm 

happy to take on notice if you would like, other circumstances in which material is published and licensing 

agreements are entered into. But I can't identify any of those circumstances off the top of my head at the moment. 

I'm happy to take it on notice if you'd like. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'd appreciate that. But it's fair to say that, going forward, putting the past to one side—

you're trying to redress what may have occurred in the past—the issue of respecting an Indigenous artist or author 

or respecting the provenance of the copyright and the intellectual property is of the highest importance.  

Mr Ritchie:  Yes; correct—and indeed has been for many years at the institute. I will say that it is one of the 

things that makes AIATSIS a joy to work at—and as an Aboriginal person—and we work hard to make sure that 

what we do reinforces Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people's rights to control and make decisions about 

their own cultural property, rather than having that decision made by us, independent of communities of origin. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you. 

Senator THORPE:  Does AIATSIS use the Aboriginal flag currently? 

Mr Ritchie:  Senator, firstly, congratulations on your appointment to the Senate. We're all very proud to see 

you there. And the answer to your question is: no, we don't—other than as a flag. The flag is displayed as a flag in 

our building. But we don't use it on publications or material for external consumption. 

Senator THORPE:  Have you ever used the Aboriginal flag for publications or email signatures or anything at 

all in the past? 

Mr Ritchie:  To my knowledge, no. You may be aware that the logo of the institute is a shield—a 

representation of the Koko Bera Shield from North Queensland—that we use with the permission of the 

traditional owners and in fact the family of the artists who produced it. That's our primary brand, if you like. To 
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my knowledge we haven't, but I don't have in my memory the full history since the early seventies. Again, I can 

take that on notice and come back to the committee, if that would be helpful. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. One more question, Mr Ritchie: as the institute dedicated to the study of First 

Nations knowledge and cultures, has the institute been hampered in any way regarding the current copyright 

arrangements of the flag? 

Mr Ritchie:  Not that I can think of, no. 

Senator THORPE:  That's all from me. 

CHAIR:  I'll continue with Senator Thorpe's questioning. Can you explain the symbol again. The shield is the 

symbol for AIATSIS? 

Mr Ritchie:  Correct. That's our trademark. The design is based on a shield that's in our collection, from North 

Queensland. It was adopted by the council of the institute in the sixties, I think, and we use it, as I say, with the 

permission of the community from which it comes in North Queensland, in particular the artists and their 

families. 

CHAIR:  So the further information you're going to provide is about that community and the artist? 

Mr Ritchie:  No, the further information I thought Senator Thorpe was asking for was on the use of the flag. 

CHAIR:  Sorry. Are you able to tell us more about the community and the artist? 

Mr Ritchie:  I can provide more information on notice about that. I don't believe there is any agreement 

between us and the people who produced the shield—the artists and the community—involving any financial 

transaction, if that's what you're driving at. 

CHAIR:  I'm not so much driving at it; I'm just trying to understand how that process works, as it really comes 

to the heart of the copyright of the flag. How does a statutory organisation like AIATSIS know that this particular 

shield will forever be okay to use if it doesn't have some kind of contractual arrangement? 

Mr Ritchie:  I'm sure we have an agreement in place, and that agreement is subject to it remaining current in 

the sense that people are still happy for us to use the shield. The family and members of the community, in 

relation to the shield, were down in the institute last year, reviewing the arrangements and reviewing the shield 

before it went on public display as part of an exhibition that we held with the museum last year. 

CHAIR:  Are you able to table the agreement you have with the artist or the family? 

Mr Ritchie:  I'll have to take that on notice, because we'll have to check with them. 

CHAIR:  That would be good. I'll come back for further questions. Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, Mr Ritchie, for appearing today. Could you explain to this committee what 

the colours on the flag symbolise. 

Mr Ritchie:  As I understand the colours on the Aboriginal flag: the red represents the land, the black 

represents the people and the yellow symbolises the sun. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes, and the arrangement of the colours is in part the genius of Mr Thomas. Is that right? 

Mr Ritchie:  As understand it, the design is his, yes. 

Senator DODSON:  The black is on top and the soil is underneath—so the people walk on top of the land. 

Mr Ritchie:  As I understand it. 

Senator DODSON:  Those seminal concepts are common across all Aboriginal peoples, aren't they? 

Mr Ritchie:  I can't speak reliably about every First Nations group, but I don't know of any Aboriginal group 

that doesn't walk on the land. So in principle I think that's probably right, Senator. 

Senator DODSON:  And the integration of the sun or the creating spirit is a matter that is a part of the cultural 

ideology of many Aboriginal tribes. Would you say that? 

Mr Ritchie:  Again, you're asking me to express a view about every Indigenous group, but that would be a 

common feature of many of our mobs and indeed many indigenous peoples the world over. 

Senator DODSON:  So the notion of the copyright vesting in one person, the designer of the flag using—and I 

won't hold you to this—fundamentally common concepts that arise from First Nations communities is the nub of 

the problem here, isn't it? 

Mr Ritchie:  That's beyond my competence. What I understand is that that matter has been resolved by the 

court decision. 
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Senator DODSON:  The design matter has been resolved, the copyright of the design, but the conceptual 

content may be something quite different. 

Mr Ritchie:  That may be possible. 

Senator DODSON:  I'm trying to look at it in another way. We've heard from people who've told us 

passionately that this is the Aboriginal people's flag. There's no basis in the Western law for Aboriginal people to 

assert that, but because it symbolises these very serious concepts within the cultural life of Aboriginal people, and 

their identification with those concepts, there's obviously this resonance. You mentioned that yourself at the start. 

There's a resonance. Do you agree with that? 

Mr Ritchie:  As I say, the institute does recognise that the flag, as currently presented in its design, has come 

to mean something very powerful for Aboriginal people. So, yes, it does have resonance. 

Senator DODSON:  And as to that resonance, people might identify their purposes in different ways. 

Someone mentioned that wrapping themselves in the flag gave them security. That is also a very important 

concept. I'm trying to deal with the question of intellectual property. If that intellectual property fundamentally 

vests in the community, as opposed to the use of those concepts in a design, how can you not recognise the 

community's rights in the flag? 

Mr Ritchie:  I don't know. I'm not an expert in these issues in relation to law and the interaction between an 

individual artist's rights in terms of an artwork and a design and how people might understand the various 

elements of that design. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes. But the artist in this case is an Indigenous person, so he's coming from within the 

culture of Aboriginal people. It's not as if he's an alien to the cultural realities. The problem we have is that 

Western law pays little attention, if any, to the collective ownership that has now grown through the use of this 

flag by First Nations peoples. Has the institute done any work in relation to this sort of First Nations community 

collective property and an artist's individual property right? 

Mr Ritchie:  Quite possibly, Senator; again, I would have to check. I would have to provide an answer to that 

particular question, as to whether we've done any work, on notice. 

Senator DODSON:  Okay. I appreciate, Mr Ritchie, I'm putting you on the spot with some of these questions. 

My final question to you is this: as a reputable national institute, if there were successful negotiations achieved 

and the flag came back to the Commonwealth and Commonwealth said they want to give it to a reputable entity, 

would the institute contemplate doing that as part of a service to the Aboriginal people? 

Mr Ritchie:  As I said earlier, that would be a matter for Mr Thomas, for the protagonists and for the 

Commonwealth in the negotiation. The institute is indeed a reputable and, we like to think, trusted body, and I'm 

sure council would be responsive to whatever emerged. Again, I don't want to deal in what, at the moment, is a 

hypothetical, because the matter is still in the hands of Mr Thomas and those who are engaging with him. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, Mr Ritchie. 

CHAIR:  Mr Ritchie, I will clarify that you're taking that question and a couple of other questions on notice. If 

you are, the secretariat suggests that the questions be answered by 30 September. 

Mr Ritchie:  Thank you. I'm happy to provide those answers within that time frame. 

CHAIR:  Great. Now, I've got a couple of questions. I want to go back to your introductory statement. You 

said you had collected more than one million items over the last 56 years—was that correct? 

Mr Ritchie:  Yes, the AIATSIS collection numbers over one million items. 

CHAIR:  And you explained to us that even now some of the staff have to go back over it to ensure accuracy 

in terms of that documentation? 

Mr Ritchie:  Yes, that is correct—and making sure that we have in fact documented the collection. Every now 

and again, someone will come into my office and invite me to come down and have a look at something that we 

have discovered in our collection that people didn't know was even in the collection. It's a mammoth undertaking 

to make sure that our collection is thoroughly documented and all of the appropriate permissions and consents are 

in place. 

CHAIR:  And with those permissions and consents in place, is there an expectation, both by AIATSIS and the 

people or families that those items have come from, that they will be protected and kept safe? 

Mr Ritchie:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  And is that something that's conducted through a written contract or agreement? How would you 

define that? 
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Mr Ritchie:  I wouldn't say we have a contract, but we do have agreements in place where there is a document 

that outlines the conditions under which an item is deposited in the collection. Where there are particular 

conditions or particular requirements for the management of an item—for example, something might be restricted 

because it's men's business or women's business or ceremonial in some way—then those requirements are 

outlined in that document that governs the deposit and therefore our management of that item and accessibility to 

that item. 

CHAIR:  You described AIATSIS as custodians of the collections, but who owns those items? 

Mr Ritchie:  That's an interesting question. In some cases, in terms of Australian law, some items belong to 

the institute legally. I was referring to our sort of disposition in relation to the management of those items. In 

some cases there are items that are placed in the collection on deposit. That means that the legal ownership still 

vests in the creator of the object if it's a piece of artwork, in the community from which it comes or in the 

depositor—and let's just use the term 'depositor'. The depositor still legally owns the object but they've put it in 

our collection on deposit for us to care for under whatever conditions that we've agreed with them. So legal 

ownership differs item by item, but our disposition in the management of an item if we do legally own it is to act 

with reference to the community from which it came or, if it was deposited by an individual, that individual or, if 

they have passed away, that individual's heirs, family and so forth. 

CHAIR:  So you separate it in a sense of a cultural caretaker mode or custodianship of it in your dealings with 

the depositor, who I think would be mostly First Nations people—not always? 

Mr Ritchie:  Not always, no, because in the early days the collection grew on the back of the efforts of 

academics and researchers who were working with Indigenous communities. In the course of undertaking their 

research they added items that were then deposited in the collection. In those cases the depositor is often a non-

Indigenous academic. In those circumstances, part of that sort of due diligence, if you like, that we undertake to 

give effect to our custodianship is to engage with the communities that the researcher or depositor, in this case, 

had worked with. We have some items that were deposited in the AIATSIS collection by former governors-

general. In a technical sense their estate is the depositor, but the community that the object came from has an 

interest in that item and for us are an important reference in terms of management of that object going forward. 

CHAIR:  Would AIATSIS be able to differentiate which of those over one million items are legally owned by 

AIATSIS and those which are not? 

Mr Ritchie:  To the extent that we have complete documentation in relation to all of the items, we can 

certainly identify those items in our collection that are in a sense the legal property of the institute and those that 

are held on deposit. Yes, we can. 

CHAIR:  Would you like to provide that information? Would you like to take it as a question on notice for the 

committee? 

Mr Ritchie:  I'm happy to provide you what information I can in relation to that, yes. Just to be clear: in terms 

of the number of items that fall into either of those categories— 

CHAIR:  That's correct, yes. So how many of those over one million would be legally owned by AIATSIS as 

opposed to how many are just there because of the goodwill of the depositors. 

Mr Ritchie:  I can't answer that question now, but I will be able to get you information on that. 

CHAIR:  I'm from Borroloola. You'd have artefacts from the Yanyuwa Garrawa people from where I come 

from or information of language over the many decades that we've had AIATSIS people come to that region. 

Given that AIATSIS is a statutory authority, if the government of the day decided to abolish AIATSIS, who 

would then own those over one million items? Would they still belong to the Commonwealth? 

Mr Ritchie:  I don't know the technical answer to that question. Because of the nature of the entity—the 

institute is a corporate Commonwealth entity—property that we own is owned in the name of the institute, as 

opposed to the Commonwealth. So the building that I'm sitting in is owned in the name of the Australian Institute 

of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies and, even though it is a Commonwealth property, it's a tricky 

distinction. Again, it's not an area of expertise that I have. I imagine that, were the institute to be abolished—

which I note would require the repeal of an act, not an easy feat— 

CHAIR:  But it has happened. Look at ATSIC. 

Mr Ritchie:  It's has been known to happen, yes, although I'm hopeful that it doesn't. I guess there would be a 

process for determining what happens to those materials, whether those materials were returned to the community 

of origin or whether they, with the agreement of the rights holders and depositors, were relocated to another 

institution similar to the institute—another collecting institution. That has happened in the past, and a number of 
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items from our art and object collection were transferred to the National Museum of Australia when it was 

established and now form part of its collection. 

CHAIR:  So, if people are engaging with AIATSIS, there has to be a degree of confidence, in terms of what 

they're depositing, that it is going to be safe. And should—heaven forbid—there be no AIATSIS, there has to be a 

degree of confidence that the item that they've deposited, in some kind of agreement or contract, is still going to 

be cared for or looked after by the Commonwealth? 

Mr Ritchie:  I think people should have some confidence that that would be the case, yes. 

CHAIR:  Mr Ritchie, thank you very much. Your information has been incredibly insightful for us, and it's 

given us an opportunity to just have a look at what does occur within AIATSIS, as we examine and inquire into 

other areas and government agencies in terms of First Nations peoples' products. 

Mr Ritchie:  Thank you, Senator, my pleasure. 

Proceedings suspended from 16:32 to 16:44 
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KELLEHER, Ms Katherine (Kate), Director, New South Wales Indigenous Chamber of Commerce 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. If you would like to make a brief opening 

statement, you are welcome to do so. 

Ms Kelleher:  I have been on the New South Wales Indigenous Chamber of Commerce board for about the 

last five years. I'm a business entity in my own right. Thank you for your time today. I really appreciate being part 

of this process. 

The New South Wales ICC has been in existence for about 12 years. We're an ACCO—an Aboriginal 

community controlled organisation. We are grassroots; we grew out of a need to build capacity with Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander businesses. We started up in the Hunter, and then the need across the state became 

pretty evident fairly quickly. We represent close to 500 business owners in New South Wales and we have been in 

the process of establishing a national peak body for Indigenous chambers of commerce around the country. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Kelleher. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Ms Kelleher, for coming today. We have heard evidence expressing a desire 

for Aboriginal community control over the licensing of the flag. Do you have a view on this? 

Ms Kelleher:  One of the members of the New South Wales Indigenous Chamber of Commerce is Terri Janke. 

I think we would prefer to defer to somebody of her expertise. Terri is well known and respected in that field. 

Yes, I think we would just defer to her. 

Senator THORPE:  I might ask for that question to go on notice. Can you bring back an answer to the 

committee? 

Ms Kelleher:  Okay. 

Senator THORPE:  I have a follow-up question. In the event that there is a licensing fee, do you have a view 

on there being sets of fees for commercial use of the flag versus community use of the flag? 

Ms Kelleher:  I think there would be a distinction for commercial use, and it would be our advocacy that 

community organisations and non-commercial use—it falls in what I have been reading about fair use of the flag. 

That is where we would fall—into that category. 

Senator THORPE:  Do you think it should be different for community versus a non-Aboriginal corporation, 

for example, or should it be the same fee for everybody—or should it be free for everybody? 

Ms Kelleher:  I think accessibility is really important. I think it should be separate where it's for a commercial 

interest and for profitability—so there is a line of distinction. Is that clear enough? 

Senator THORPE:  I think what I'm hearing is that you would have a set fee for commercial use, but it would 

potentially be different for community; is that right? 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. Because of the way the community has adopted the flag—it's part of our contemporary 

heritage now. We wouldn't want to see accessibility to that flag change, and we certainly would not want to see 

commercialisation of it. 

Senator THORPE:  Currently Mr Thomas is the copyright holder, and he has licensed the flag to three 

separate, non-Aboriginal entities. What's your view, hypothetically, on the flag or even the licence to the flag 

being owned by a community controlled organisation? 

Ms Kelleher:  I wasn't expecting you to ask that question. I was expecting you to ask if the Australian 

government was going to own it. I had a view about that. 

Senator THORPE:  That's my next question. 

Ms Kelleher:  I think I'd have to take that question on notice. Is that okay? 

Senator THORPE:  Sure. 

CHAIR:  Ms Kelleher, we'll just note that that is a question on notice for you and alert you that the secretariat 

suggests you have until 30 September to provide a response for Senator Thorpe. 

Ms Kelleher:  Sure. Thank you. 

Senator THORPE:  There was also a question on notice before that that I asked Ms Kelleher to come back 

with. That was around the different licensing fees for community versus commercial or non-Aboriginal entities. 

CHAIR:  Ms Kelleher, will you be fine to report back with that answer by 30 September? 
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Ms Kelleher:  Yes, that'll be fine. 

Senator THORPE:  I will go to the question that you thought I was going to ask. What's your view on the 

government owning either the copyright or the licensing of the Aboriginal flag? 

Ms Kelleher:  There would be some reticence with that, mainly from the point of view of colonisation—the 

thought process around colonisation. We'd probably be a bit reticent, I think. 

Senator THORPE:  Finally, is there a preferred model of where the Aboriginal flag should sit? And how can 

we do that? 

Ms Kelleher:  I think it's around accessibility and fair use. Recognising that the copyright for Harold Thomas 

and his family is honoured, it would be fair use so community and Aboriginal orgs are able to utilise that flag, but 

then have that distinction with commercial usage. That would be it. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  I really appreciate you presenting today. Are you speaking today in reference to 

members that you've got? Have they had this issue of difficulty in the use of the flag? Is that your interest today? 

Ms Kelleher:  I think the reason we wanted to have the opportunity to be a witness to this is that the flag is 

such an important part of our contemporary heritage. I'm not specifically aware of any individual issues that any 

of our businesses have had. Between now and 30 September, I'm happy to do more of a pulse test around that. It's 

really more about what the flag means to us as a people group. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Do you have members that have tried to use the flag or are wanting to use the flag 

but are now concerned, given the exposure through the media and the problems that individuals have had? 

I would be interested in whether you have had particular companies that have had a cease and desist notice, or do 

you think is it also combined with concern now about the use of the flag, for fear of any retribution or— 

Ms Kelleher:  I think it's the latter. I'm not personally aware of any cease and desist issues, but I'm happy to do 

some checking between now and 30 September. But I think it would be more around the hesitancy of what—  

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Yes. That makes sense, and I can appreciate that there would be real concern out 

there amongst people that are wanting to use the flag. As you say, it's a very significant flag and it's a symbol that 

represents so much for Aboriginal people and, indeed, many other non-Aboriginal people as well. One of the 

challenges that we're hearing as we're speaking to witnesses and reading feedback that we've had in submissions 

is the need to make sure that we respect Mr Thomas's rights as the one that created the flag. Since he created it, 

the flag has gone on to mean so much to Aboriginal people, but there's a real desire among many people who have 

put in a submission that we make sure that we preserve and respect his rights and his status in having created it. 

Have you got a view on what we should be doing to make sure that those rights are maintained, in trying to also 

solve the issue that's in front of us? 

Ms Kelleher:  I'd have to say that I'm not a subject expert in that matter, and it is an area of expertise. I think 

all we could say is that we would seek to see that the fact that he is the creative artist is honoured in the copyright. 

As to how that's done, certainly there are better people with better minds and understanding than mine or those of 

the New South Wales ICC. Sorry, I'm not palming you off on that; it's just that it is a very specific subject area. 

We would look to Terri. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  I know Terri, and she's got a lot of value in this conversation, that's for sure. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Maybe, more broadly, given your membership base—you've got Aboriginal owned 

businesses that you're supporting, that you're trying to network with and that you're trying provide the best 

advantage that they can get, whether it's in procurement or any other sphere of business. The concern is that, if the 

rights of this Aboriginal businessperson are not represented and are not taken into consideration, one of the 

options that would be in front of government, which the minister has said that he won't take—but there are some 

that are advocating that we do—is to compulsorily acquire the copyright. But that could go to undermining the 

status of his right in his business. I know many Aboriginal businesses in New South Wales are actually doing 

quite well and they need support, and there are others that are not, and they need even more support. If we have 

got this environment where maybe businesses have been undermined through an improper negotiation on this 

matter, it could potentially undermine that. I'm sort of editorialising what I'm hearing, but I'm just interested in 

your feedback. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes, I think we would have concern about that, for the very reasons that's you've said—that it 

undermines what structures are in place at the moment under law. Certainly compulsorily acquisitioning a 

copyright, especially if it were a government over an Aboriginal organisation, doesn't sit well, from that 

colonising-type thinking. 
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Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Yes, I understand. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes, I think if it happens here it can happen again and again. 

Senator DODSON:  Do you make a distinction between the holding of the copyright and the capacity to enter 

into contracts by virtue of holding the copyright? 

Ms Kelleher:  Can you give me an example? 

Senator DODSON:  In this case, Mr Thomas holds the copyright. He's entered into contracts with three other 

entities, one of which seems to have exclusive use over how the flag is reproduced on clothing. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. That's the non-Indigenous company, isn't it? 

Senator DODSON:  I presume it is, yes. It's WAM. It's not meant to be a hard question; I'm just wondering—

we have this challenge— 

Ms Kelleher:  We do, yes. 

Senator DODSON:  of protecting Mr Thomas's copyright and his right to enter into contracts or leases with 

whomever he wishes. In this case, he's entered into a lease which, for all intents and purposes, has had adverse 

consequences on Aboriginal organisations and individuals. He may or may not be aware of that or he may or may 

not have intended that. But it does seem that that's the nub of the problem we've got here. 

Ms Kelleher:  Would that be addressed by addressing that issue of fair use? If there was a definition of 'fair 

use', would that address that problem? 

Senator DODSON:  That would have to be in the contract, I'd imagine. Without seeing the contract, we have 

no idea what caveats are on it or what rights and interests Mr Thomas retains and to what extent there's a demand 

on the company to act with the kind of intention that you've articulated. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. I guess if we come to a point of saying do Mr Thomas's rights weigh heavier than the 

ability of community to utilise what has become—it's a gazetted flag. We've been utilising it for many years. We 

would like it to still be accessible to our communities. 

Senator DODSON:  We've taken evidence from experts that, basically, tell us that the Aboriginal community 

have no real legal interest or property interest in this matter and in the flag per se. 

Ms Kelleher:  Okay. I've been on your site, reading a few of the submissions. From the community point of 

view, there seems to be a great interest in being able to continue utilising the flag as a representative of our culture 

and a visible recognition. As for the property interest, I'm not sure. 

Senator DODSON:  They don't have a legal interest. That's the challenge we seem to have—therefore, how do 

you balance that interest, that you rightly identify? The community has got a very vested interest in the flag and 

its use and its accessibility. Yet we have a contractual arrangement between Mr Thomas and this company that's 

bringing all sorts of grief to what they understood were their rights and interests via the creation of the flag by Mr 

Thomas. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. From our perspective, as Aboriginal businesses, I guess it sort of sticks in our throat a bit 

that a non-Indigenous organisation would be gaining royalties from what we see, rightly or wrongly—what is 

commonly held—as the belief that it's our cultural flag. 

Senator DODSON:  I understand that. Obviously, there are no adverse consequences, it appears, to Mr 

Thomas, to the contract with WAM, but we don't know that for sure. Secondly, we're not clear what capacity he 

may have to vary the contract and what the consequences of that might be. 

Ms Kelleher:  Right. So is it within the realms of your powers as a committee that you could find out that 

information from him? 

Senator DODSON:  Well, if he were prepared to talk to us, we would. We could—he may not want to tell us. 

These are the sensitivities the government's involved with, no doubt, in their negotiations. But we ought to be 

clear that no-one's saying, 'Remove his copyright interest.' We seem to be caught up with the contractual 

arrangements, which he has a right to do.  

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. 

Senator DODSON:  He can contract out his property. But the nature of those contracts is now bringing into 

disrepute the flag itself and certainly creating great angst for First Nations, and for many other Australians, I 

might add. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. 
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Senator DODSON:  We, as a committee, are trying to find a way that might assist some resolution to this, 

recognising Mr Thomas's rights, but also bringing the flag back into fair use for Australians and for First Nations 

peoples. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. I can see your dilemma. Unfortunately, I don't have any suggestions for a solution either. 

Senator DODSON:  I was hoping you'd have the solution! 

Ms Kelleher:  I wish I did! Sorry. 

Senator DAVEY:  I have a couple of questions on the back of Senator Dodson's line of questioning. I'm 

interested to unpack a bit further this idea about community property and fair use. What do you understand 'fair 

use' to be, and, if we were talking about any other product or design, would we be having a conversation about 

superseding someone's intellectual property rights under this notion of fair use or community use? 

Ms Kelleher:  Again, because I'm not a subject matter expert, I can only speak from a layperson's point of 

view. With copyright, there are usually some parameters around what fair use is. I guess if we were able to come 

to some agreement around that with Mr Thomas or with who he's contracted to, then that would be a win-win for 

both. How realistic that is, I'm not sure. But I know there was something cited—and I think back to my own sister 

as well—where we can go to our local MP and, usually, we can get an Aboriginal flag. It's that sort of thing. I'm 

thinking of my sister when my nephew passed, and even my own dad. To be able to go and do that, that's a very 

personal thing to be able to do, and you want that to be able to continue without having to go through a lot of 

rigmarole. 

Senator DAVEY:  Would you be surprised to hear that in those circumstances, which have been long held and 

we've always been able to do, it is the MP, the Commonwealth, through our arrangements, that has already paid 

the royalty for those flags? 

Ms Kelleher:  Okay, yes. That's a good point. 

Senator DAVEY:  I'm not making—it's something I have learnt through this committee, and a lot of my 

colleagues were also unaware of it, that when we purchase those flags we're purchasing a licensed product. I 

strongly believe in our capacity to provide those flags on request. I think that's a very important thing, and it's a 

great thing for Indigenous people, but so many people don't realise that it is a licensed product. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. In the current environment, with what's taking place now, is that licensing that the 

government has already purchased still in place? Would that remain in place? 

Senator DAVEY:  Our understanding, through this committee process, is that there are three licences that Mr 

Thomas holds, and one is with the flag. They are the sole manufacturers of the flag. But people can fly and 

display the flag freely once they've purchased it. I think the biggest problem that we've been hearing through this 

committee is less about the flag and more about merchandise and clothing and apparel. Moving on, more 

broadly—not talking about the flag—what is the chamber's position on copyright and intellectual property for 

Indigenous peoples? 

Ms Kelleher:  It's incredibly important. It's central to what our values are as an Indigenous Chamber of 

Commerce, particularly when we only represent three per cent of the population in a [inaudible] society. It's 

incredibly important. 

Senator DAVEY:  In understanding that, I think this is where the flag is the enigma. I think we've heard 

widely that it's incredibly important to respect an Indigenous person's intellectual property and their copyright but 

also how important the flag has become to the Indigenous community and the Australian community more 

widely, and how we respect both scenarios. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes. I don't envy you your job! 

CHAIR:  You spoke about fair use, and you raised that a few times in Senator Davey's question but also in 

Senator Dodson's. How would you see fair use being achieved in this situation? 

Ms Kelleher:  I think it would be, particularly, in non-commercial circumstances. 

CHAIR:  Only non-commercial circumstances? 

Ms Kelleher:  I think so. Sorry, I'm thinking of how we utilise the flag in community the most. The distinction 

for me is where somebody—particularly a non-Indigenous organisation—is making money out of what is 

commonly understood or believed to be, for example, our flag. Now, whether that's legally true or not, that's what 

the commonly held belief is. 

CHAIR:  So that would possibly be one solution. Let me try to unpack that a little bit more. In terms of fair 

use, for example, with your businesses that are in the membership of the First Nations Chamber of Commerce and 
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Industry, how would fair use be achieved in their businesses? What are the steps to making sure that that 

occurred? 

Ms Kelleher:  I don't think we've had to go down that track. This is all new territory for us all, so I think I'd 

need to take that on notice. I'm sorry. 

CHAIR:  That's fine. Thank you. As you can see, we're all really trying to examine different ways of finding 

some kind of solution here, and I thought it was interesting that you pointed that out. So, if you'd like to expand 

on that some more, please do. As you know, the date for us is 30 September for questions to be answered. We've 

obviously heard your views on the current licensees and how the government should deal with them. Do you feel 

you've given enough information around that to senators? 

Ms Kelleher:  Based on my knowledge of the area, yes. 

CHAIR:  Okay. With regard to trying to reach a resolution with Mr Thomas, which is quite critical—I might 

just ask you about that question of Mr Thomas. Whilst you're the New South Wales Indigenous Chamber of 

Commerce and moving to, I understand, the First Nations chamber in terms of your title— 

Ms Kelleher:  No, New South Wales ICC will always be an entity in itself. The First Nations Chamber of 

Commerce and Industry is a national peak body. That's taking in other jurisdictions. 

CHAIR:  So what is your role with the First Nations Chamber of Commerce and Industry? 

Ms Kelleher:  I'm on the board there as well, but I'm speaking specifically from New South Wales ICC. 

CHAIR:  So, with your First Nations Chamber of Commerce and Industry hat on, are you able to let the 

committee know whether Mr Thomas is a member of that in any way? 

Ms Kelleher:  The memberships come through the relevant jurisdictional Indigenous chambers of commerce, 

so, no, we don't have a line of sight on that. 

CHAIR:  Okay. 

Ms Kelleher:  Which state does he live in? 

CHAIR:  We understand it is the Northern Territory. Is the Northern Territory— 

Ms Kelleher:  It's an active part, yes. 

CHAIR:  I'm pleased to hear that. 

Ms Kelleher:  Yes, it is very active. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much for your evidence this afternoon. We're digging a bit deep here in trying to 

understand business and the business side of things. We do appreciate your comments, in particular in relation to 

the New South Wales Indigenous Chamber of Commerce. Thank you for your time this afternoon. As we have 

pointed out, if you're able to supply the answers to those questions on notice by 30 September, we would 

appreciate that. 

Ms Kelleher:  Will the questions be sent to me? 

CHAIR:  Usually transcripts are provided. You will note in those transcripts the sections where we've asked 

for the questions on notice. You will actually see those in the transcript. If you do have any concerns or further 

questions around that, please don't hesitate to contact us through the secretariat. 

Ms Kelleher:  That's fine. Thank you. All the best, guys. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much. Senators, before we conclude today's proceedings, I will need a motion from 

a member of the committee to accept any tabled documents from the day's proceedings and questions on notice. 

Senator DAVEY:  I so move. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Davey. That concludes today's proceedings. The committee agreed that answers 

taken on notice at today's hearing should be returned by 30 September 2020. I thank all witnesses for their 

evidence today. I thank also Hansard, broadcasting and the secretariat. I declare the hearing adjourned. 

Committee adjourned at 17:20 
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